
MEMORANDUM 

TO: Town Council  

FROM: David E. Cox, Town Manager  

DATE: October 6, 2022 

SUBJECT: Agenda Information – 10/11/2022 

The following is additional or summary information regarding matters on the upcoming Town Council 
Agenda.  The numbering below follows the agenda, and some routine or self-explanatory items are not 
discussed in this memo.  As you review your packet materials, please do not hesitate to contact the 
appropriate staff member or me prior to the Council meeting with any questions or concerns.  Often, 
these conversations can help staff and me be prepared for the Council meeting and be ready to facilitate 
a more productive and efficient meeting for everyone.  

6 Bids and Contracts 
6a Consideration of the School Administrators Contract – The Council is being presented with the 
negotiated three-year contract for School Administrator Staff effective July 1, 2023 through June 30, 
2026.  Detailed information on the proposed agreement, which has been approved by the Board of 
Education, is provided in the attached material from the Superintendent and the Board of Education’s 
labor attorney.  The agreement was negotiated by representatives of the Board of Education with a 
member of the Board of Finance as an observer.  As the Council may recall, within 30 days of the 
agreement being filed with the Town Clerk, which occurred on September 27, 2022, the Town Council 
may approve, reject or take no action on the agreement.  Approval would ratify the agreement 
immediately.  Similarly, no action by the Council would cause the agreement to be approved after the 
30-day period.  If the Council rejects the agreement, the matter is immediately referred to arbitration
wherein the Arbitration panel will review the last-best offers of the parties and other pertinent
information and make a determination on the terms of the agreement.  If the arbitration panel
determines it will vary from the negotiated agreement, it will select the last offer made by either the
Board of Education or the union group.

Recommendation:  Determine whether to approve the agreement. 

7 Resolutions/Ordinances/Policies/Proclamations 
7a Resolutions regarding application for a grant to assist in the replacement of the Middle School 
Roof – The Council is asked to consider two resolutions that are preliminary steps in the approval 
process for the Board of Education to seek a School Construction Grant to assist in the replacement of 
the Middle School Roof, which is planned for the summer of 2023 as part of Fiscal Year 2024.  The first 
resolution authorizes the application for and acceptance of the grant; establishes a building committee 
consisting of a Board of Education member, a Town Council member, a member of the public and the 
Facilities Director (ex officio and non-voting); and authorizes development of schematic designs.  The 



Town Council - Agenda Information – 10/11/2022 
October 6, 2022 
Page 2 

second resolution is the first of two expected resolutions regarding funding for the project, which is 
currently estimated to cost between $1.8 million and $3.5 million. The resolution on the current agenda 
proposes to rescind an earlier decision of the Council to allocate ARPA funds to the Middle School Roof 
Replacement project.  As the Council may recall, several months ago, staff learned that any federally 
funded grants that were applied to a school construction project would be used to reduce the amount 
of grant funds available from the State as shown in the examples below.  In order to maximize the 
outside grant funds, staff is recommending that the Town not directly use ARPA funds for this project, 
but rather, use other funds that can be made available by appropriate allocation of ARPA funds 
elsewhere. 

Example of 
ARPA impact on 
the project use of 

Town funds 
Use of ARPA 

Funds 

Without 
Use of 
ARPA 
Funds 

Overall Project 
Cost $1,900,000 $1,900,000 
Application of 
ARPA Grant Funds $816,000 $0 

State Grant (52% 
of Cost after 
federal funds) $563,680 $988,000 
Other Town Funds $520,320 $912,000 
Total Town Funds $1,336,320 $912,000 

Staff is finalizing a recommended plan for addressing financing of the project, which is expected to be 
presented at the Council’s next meeting.  That plan may call for a combination of short term borrowing, 
use of accumulated surplus or other funds and is expected to include a Town Meeting requirement. 

Recommendation:  Approve the Resolutions presented. 

7b Resolutions regarding an additional appropriation for Armed Security Officers – The Council is 
being asked to consider a request from the Board of Education for an additional appropriation for the 
current fiscal year to support the hiring of three additional Armed School Security Officers.  The 
proposed appropriation of $105,000 was considered by the Board of Finance who recommended 
approval of the appropriation using funds in the Town’s unassigned general fund balance.  If the Council 
determines that the additional appropriation should be considered, the matter is then referred to the 
Town Meeting for consideration and final action by the electors.  On behalf of the Town Council, a 
number of questions were posed to the Superintendent regarding actions by other area Districts, the 
survey performed on the topic and certain current security measures and practices.  The responses are 
included in materials presented by Superintendent Smith and included in this packet. 

Recommendation:  Determine whether and how the Council wishes to proceed. 



Town Council - Agenda Information – 10/11/2022 
October 6, 2022 
Page 3 

9 New Business 
9a Review of proposed amendments to the Business Incentive Program Ordinance – The Council 
is asked to review recommendations from the Economic Development Commission for changes to the 
Town Code establishing the Business Incentive Program, which is a short term property tax abatement 
program used to incentivize businesses to relocate to or expand in East Hampton.  The Commission 
reviewed the ordinance after its most recent experience with an application and has made suggestions  
that it believes will clarify and enhance the program.  It has also developed revisions to the application 
and a new guidance document for the Commission to help it undertake the review of applications in a 
consistent manner.  If the Council is comfortable with the proposed Code amendments, it could 
establish a public hearing on the proposed changes.  If not, the Council could return comments to the 
Economic Development Commission for further consideration. 

Recommendation:  Determine how to proceed. 

9b Consideration of Police Department General Orders – The Council is asked to review and 
consider updates to seven (7) existing General Orders and the approval of one (1) new General Order as 
described in Chief Woessner’s memorandum.  The policies are being updated or created to reflect 
changes directed by the Police Officer Standards and Training (POST) Council and as part of the 
Department’s preparations for meeting the Accreditation Standards. 

Recommendation:  Approve the General Orders 

The remainder of the items are of a routine nature, in the sole purview of the Council or are 
announcements.  Please contact me or the appropriate staff member with questions or concerns. 



Town Council Regular Meeting 1 9/27/2022 Minutes 

Town of East Hampton 
Town Council Regular Meeting 
Tuesday, September 27, 2022 

Town Hall Council Chambers and Zoom 

MINUTES 

Present: Chairman Mark Philhower, Vice Chairman Tim Feegel, Council Members Pete Brown, 
Brandon Goff, Eric Peterson, Kevin Reich and Alison Walck and Town Manager David Cox 

Call to Order & Pledge of Allegiance 
Chairman Philhower called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. in the Town Hall Council Chambers 
and via Zoom. 

Adoption of Agenda 
A motion was made by Ms. Walck, seconded by Mr. Reich, to adopt the agenda as submitted. Voted 
(7-0). 

Approval of Minutes 
A motion was made by Ms. Walck, seconded by Mr. Feegel, to approve the minutes of the Town 
Council Regular Meeting of September 13, 2022 as written. Voted (7-0) 

Public Hearing on an Amendment to Chapter 155 of the Code of the Town of East Hampton 
Regarding Extending a Moratorium on Certain Activities Related to Adult-Use Cannabis:  
No comments were made by the public on this topic.    

A motion was made by Mr. Brown, seconded by Mr. Peterson, to close the Public Hearing. Voted (7-
0). 

Public Remarks:  
Ted Turner, 223 Hog Hill Rd, wanted to encourage the Town Council members to approve of the 
covid funds for the VFW. The funds could help small businesses and local non-profits. 

Susan Fielding, 11 Lake Dr, wanted to encourage the town to get on board with pickle ball. The court 
is half the size of a tennis court. This could help the town move forward and grow. 

Deborah Cunningham, 40 Daly Rd, wanted to express her concerns over the distribution of ARPA 
funding to small businesses and non-profits. She advises the members to use good judgement in 
distributing the funds as well. 

Presentations: None 

Bids & Contracts: 
a. Consideration of a motion to waive the competitive bidding process and award a

contract roof replacement at Fire Station #1: The Fire Department staff received three
quotes for the roof replacement but didn’t go through the process of the sealed bid
specifications. At that time, the Council was asked to waive that part of the process and was
then agreed upon by the Council members. The Fire Department is giving the Town Council

Agenda Item 3a



 
Town Council Regular Meeting  2 9/27/2022 Minutes  

an opportunity to award the contract to Bert Dorr Roofing of Middletown for $44,700. This 
would be to replace the middle section of the roof at Fire Station #1 on Barton Hill Road.    
 
A motion was made by Mr. Goff, seconded by Ms. Walck, to award the contract to Bert Dorr 
Roofing in the amount of $44,700 to repair the Company #1 Fire Department roof. Voted (7-
0). 

 
Resolution/ Ordinances/ Policies/ Proclamations: 

a. Consideration of a motion to approve Ordinance 2022.03, An Ordinance to Extend the 
Moratorium on Certain Activities Related to Adult-Use Cannabis:   A motion was made 
by Mr. Goff, seconded by Mr. Feegel, to extend the moratorium on certain activities related 
to adult-use cannabis. Voted (7-0). 

 
Continued Business: 

a. Sub-Committee Reports & Updates: The water sub-committee gave an update. There has 
been exploratory drilling and testing on the Pine Brook property. There were 5-6 holes drilled 
and the company kept hitting bedrock. The Oakum Dock property is still being evaluated and 
tested for feasibly usable water for the town. The town received grant funds that would help 
move projects along without any expense to the taxpayers. It was suggested to have the 
company evaluating the property for water to come in and present at a future Town Council 
meeting. 
 

b. Receipt, discussion, and possible action regarding recommendations from the 
Commission on Aging regarding older adult transportation, housing and wellness: Eric 
Rosenberg, Bob Atherton, and Sue Greeno from the Commission on Aging attended the 
meeting to present to the Council members. The commission sent out a survey to the senior 
citizens living in town. The survey was to gain insight and get information on what the senior 
community needs in town. The three commission members indicated three main areas that 
needs improving from the survey results. Transportation, Health and Wellness, and Housing 
were the categories that needed updates and improvement. The presentation packet was 
attached to the Council meeting packet on the town website.  

 
New Business: 

a. Consideration and Possible Actions Regarding the Fees and Regulations Related to 
Amusement Devices: In the 1970’s and 1980’s there were fees and regulations pertaining to 
arcades and other amusement devices in town. The members suggested waiving the fees for 
now and to investigate redrafting or rewriting the regulations to be updated.   
 
A motion was made by Mr. Peterson, seconded by Mr. Philhower, to waive all fees associated 
with ordinance for amusement devices pending new regulations. Voted (7-0). 

 
b. Consideration of Library Policies: 

i. Consideration and action regarding an update to the Library Circulation Policy: 
Library Director Kellogg attended the meeting to present to the Council members. The 
update to the circulation policy is to clarify that the materials may be borrowed by 
anyone with a valid public library borrower card from any Connecticut library. There 
are some specific borrowing terms that may be applied to certain types of materials.   

 



 
Town Council Regular Meeting  3 9/27/2022 Minutes  

A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Ms. Walck, to approve the updated 
library circulation policy. Voted (7-0). 

ii. Consideration and action regarding a proposed Library Proctoring Policy: 
Library Director Kellogg presented to the Town Council on the proposed Library 
Proctoring Policy. The proposed policy would help setup library patron proctoring by 
setting times for appointments, responsibilities, services and functions, and 
restrictions.    

 
A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Mr. Feegel, to approve the proposed 
policy for setting up the Library Proctoring. Voted (7-0). 

 
c. Consideration of Police Department Policies/ General Orders:   

A motion was made by Ms. Walck, seconded by Mr. Peterson, to approve of policies 3.1, 3.2,  
3.5, 3.7, 3.8, and 9.5 as presented. Voted (7-0). 
 

i. Consideration and action regarding General Order 3.1 Use of Force: The order 
required updating to reflect changes by the Police Officer Standards and Training 
Council (POSTC) Accreditation Standards. There were changes made to the language 
specific to the standard. An example would be, authorization by police officers to carry 
weapons, use force, training requirements, and reporting guidelines. 

ii. Consideration and action regarding General Order 3.2 Conducted Electrical 
Weapon: The order required updating to reflect changes by the Police Officer 
Standards and Training Council (POSTC) Accreditation Standards. There were some 
language changes to clarify the new changes by the council.  

iii. Consideration and action regarding General Order 3.5 Reporting and 
Investigating Force: The order required updating to reflect changes by the Police 
Officer Standards and Training Council (POSTC) Accreditation Standards. There was 
a minor change made to the use of force mandated reporting requirements.  

iv. Consideration and action regarding General Order 3.7 Firearms Policy: The 
order required updating to reflect changes by the Police Officer Standards and 
Training Council (POSTC) Accreditation Standards. There were language changes 
specific to the update made by the council. The changes added authorization by police 
officers to carry weapons, use force, annual review by the Chief of police of all use of 
force incidents, an annual inventory of all weapons as well as mandatory training 
requirements. 

v. Consideration and action regarding General Order 3.8 Patrol Rifle: The order 
required updating to reflect changes by the Police Officer Standards and Training 
Council (POSTC) Accreditation Standards. The changes added authorization by 
police officers to carry weapons, use force, annual review by the Chief of police of all 
use of force incidents, an annual inventory of all weapons, securing of weapons, and 
mandatory training requirements.   

vi. Consideration and action regarding General Order 9.5 In-Service, Roll Call, and 
Advanced Training: The order required updating to reflect changes by the Police 
Officer Standards and Training Council (POSTC) Accreditation Standards. The 
changes to the language include the training requirements of the chief of police and 
the accreditation managers.  

 



 
Town Council Regular Meeting  4 9/27/2022 Minutes  

d. Discussion and possible action related to a request from the East Hampton VFW Post 
for ARPA assistance: The East Hampton VFW is requesting $10,000 of ARPA assistance. 
The members discussed whether the funding would open the door to other non-profits, small 
businesses, and organizations coming forward requesting funding and assistance as well. The 
Council members asked what the characteristics of why to approve or deny any requests put 
forth. The intentions in choosing what option the members would vote for or with would be 
another deciding factor. The members need specifics on what/ how the ARPA assistance 
would be used for each organization, non-profit, or small business. Mr. Brown recused 
himself from the voting of this topic. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Goff, seconded by Mr. Feegel, to approve the request by the VFW 
for a one-time non-profit use of ARPA funds for veteran services in the amount of $10,000 
due to their loss of revenue during Covid and for their immense community outreach to 
veterans. Voted (5-1) Ms. Walck against. 
 

e. Consideration and possible action regarding updates to the Assistant to the Tax 
Collector (Tax Clerk) Job Description: The job description needed updating. The changes 
and revisions to the language is to better reflect the work expectations and the minimum 
requirements for the position. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Mr. Feegel, to approve of the updated job 
description for the assistant to the tax collector (tax clerk). Voted (7-0). 
 

Town Manager’s Report: The sewer bills will be coming out soon in the mail. The bills can be paid 
in two parts. The town received a STEAP grant for the Village Center project. Developing the 
specifics for the Village Center project over the winter months in preparation of starting in the spring. 
There have been speed monitoring, car tracking, and speed tracking occurring in certain parts of the 
town. The Police Department does do targeted enforcement in town, like writing tickets and warning 
for those speeding. The Town Manager will start sharing the Police Department reports that are 
submitted to the paper. The public should be educated and/or re-educated on the updated laws on 
speeding and driving. 
 
Appointments: None 
 
Tax Refunds: A motion was made by Ms. Walck, seconded by Mr. Peterson, to approve tax refunds 
in the amount of $2,426.33. Voted (7-0). 
 
Public Remarks: Susan Fielding, 11 Lake Dr, stated the ADU’s requirements are not going to 
happen in town. Special permits needs to be applied for to have an ADU in town. Senior loneliness 
could be helped with pickle ball since it is a very sociable sport/ activity for all ages. Ms. Fielding 
expressed her concern over the speeding in town and the crumbling sidewalks for the safety of the 
town and the community. 
 
Roger Anderson is the present commander at the East Hampton VFW. Mr. Anderson wanted to 
express his gratitude for the council awarding the ARPA funding. Functions and fund raising is where 
and how the VFW gain their money to help other vets in need. It is not in their moral fiber to turn 
down any vet in need or trouble. 
 



 
Town Council Regular Meeting  5 9/27/2022 Minutes  

Ted Turner, 223 Hog Hill Rd, wanted to thank the council for awarding the ARPA assistance to the 
VFW. He intends to send a letter to the Council. This letter will further specify where their money 
goes and how it helps other vets. 
 
Terry Concannon, 59 Laurel Ridge, stated that she has concerns over giving ARPA money to non-
profits. There are 70 non-profits in town. She stated that very few of those organizations have budgets 
that extent to the $10,000 that was just awarded to the VFW. The churches in town, and possibly 
some of the other organizations on the list, already received their funding from the state as part of 
Covid relief efforts. 
 
Communications, Correspondence & Announcements: None 
 
Adjournment:  A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Mr. Feegel, to adjourn the meeting 
at 8:28 P.M. Voted (7-0). 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
Katrina Aligata 
Recording Clerk 
 



Town Council Special Meeting 1 10/4/2022 Minutes 

Town of East Hampton 
Town Council Special Meeting 

Tuesday, October 4, 2022 
Town Hall 2nd Floor Meeting Room #201 

MINUTES 

Present: Chairman Mark Philhower, Vice Chairman Tim Feegel, Council Members Pete Brown, 
Brandon Goff, Eric Peterson, Kevin Reich and Alison Walck and Town Manager David Cox. 

Also Present:  Fire Commission Chairman Brett Salafia, Fire Chief Greg Voelker and Fire 
Commission Member Phil Visintainer 

Call to Order 
Chairman Philhower called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. in the Town Hall 2nd Floor Meeting 
Room. 

Executive Session 
Strategy & Negotiation Regarding Potential Purchase of Property 
A motion was made by Mr. Goff, seconded by Mr. Feegel, to enter Executive Session for strategy and 
negotiation regarding potential purchase of property.  David Cox, Brett Salafia, Greg Voelker and Phil 
Visintainer were invited into the Executive Session. 

Executive Session ended at 7:14pm 

Adjournment 
A motion was made by Mr. Goff, seconded by Mr. Feegel, to adjourn the meeting at 7:14 p.m. Voted 
(7-0). 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Cathy Sirois 
Recording Clerk 

Agenda Item 3b



PAUL K. SMITH RODNEY L. MOSIER II 
Superintendent of Schools Director of Special Education 

and Pupil Personnel Services 

MARY E. CLARK 1 COMMUNITY DRIVE, SUITE 1 KAREN HITCHCOCK ASETTA 
Director of Curriculum and Instruction EAST HAMPTON, CONNECTICUT 06424 School Business Manager 

(860) 365-4000

MEMO 

TO: Dave Cox, Town Manager 

FROM:  Paul K. Smith, Superintendent of Schools 

DATE: September 27, 2022 

SUBJECT: Administrators’ Agreement (July 1, 2023-June 30, 2026) 

At their meeting of September 26, the East Hampton Board of Education ratified the East Hampton 

Administrators’ Agreement.  As of 8:00 AM this morning, the Agreement was forwarded to the Town 

Clerk. 

Included with this memo is a copy of the contract and details of changes that were agreed upon during 

August negotiations. 

Additional information for the Town Council, should they wish to vote on the contract is included below. 

 As of September 15, 2022, there have been 17 administrator settlements reported to the state.

 The majority of districts (11 of the 17) have moved to GWI only in administrator agreements due

to the fact that most agreements have a limited number of steps.  For example, should our

adminsitrators remain the same, in the next round of negotiations all would be at top of the 5 steps.

Added language usually allows the Superintenet to bring in new members at $10-15K less than the

posted salary.  Upoin hiring, the individual would only receive the agreed upon GWI, instead of

the GWI+Step.

 In looking at the GWI only for the 17 agreements, East Hampton ranked 14 (with 17 being the

lowest) at 6.45% over 3 years.  The range of the agreements was 6.00% - 10.50% (GWI only).

 There were 6 agreements of the 17 with Step and the range was 8.50% - 8.80% with EH

Administrators coming in at 8.67%.

 In a comparison of settlements – bottom line only (with or without Step), the administers rank 8

out of 17 for total cost to the town.

Details of costs over there years are in in the document from the Board’s attorney.  I am happy to answer 

any questions that Town Council members may have. 

Agenda Item 6a



Zachary D. Schurin 
90 State House Square 
Hartford, CT 06103-3702 
p 860 424 4389 
f 860 424 4370 
zschurin@pullcom.com 
www.pullcom.com 

September 23, 2022 

Via E-Mail to: psmith@easthamptonct.org 

Mr. Paul Smith 
Superintendent of Schools 
East Hampton Public Schools 
1 Community Drive, Suite 1 
East Hampton, Connecticut CT 06424 

- Privileged and Confidential -

Re: Summary of Tentative Agreement with the East Hampton School Administrators’ 
Association 

Dear Superintendent Smith: 

As you know, on August 16, 2022, the East Hampton Board of Education’s negotiation 
committee and the negotiation committee of the East Hampton School Administrators’ 
Association (“the Association”) reached a tentative agreement for a successor collective 
bargaining agreement to the current 2020-2023 administrators’ contract.  This letter summarizes 
the terms and financial impact of the tentative agreement.  Please share this letter with Board of 
Education members prior to the Board’s scheduled ratification vote on the new agreement. 

The Board’s negotiating team for these negotiations included Board Chairman Christina 
Tammaro-Dzagan, Board Vice Chairman Nancy Oakley and Board member Augie Arndt as well 
as Superintendent of Schools Paul Smith and me.  Board of Finance representative Dr. Richard 
Brown participated as an observer.  The tentative agreement was reached on August 16, 2022 
during the parties’ first negotiating session.  It is my understanding that the Association plans to 
hold a ratification vote on the proposed agreement on September 26, 2022. 

The following is a summary of the terms of the parties’ tentative agreement and its 
anticipated financial impact: 



Page 2 

Summary of Tentative Agreement 

Duration – Art. XV -- Three years, from July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2026. 

Salaries – Art. XII & Schedule A -- The agreement results in a projected 8.65% increase to the 
overall 2022-23 administrators’ base salary account of $1,388,070 over the three-year term of the 
contract.  For comparison purposes, as of today’s date the unofficial statewide three-year average 
administrators’ settlement percentage stands at approximately 8.27%, while the three-year 
average teachers’ settlement percentage stands at approximately 11.49%.1

Administrators advance a step in each year of the tentative agreement.  In the first year of the 
agreement, administrators receive a 2.25% general wage increase (“GWI”) in addition to step 
movement; in the second-year administrators receive a 2.2% GWI in addition to step movement, 
and; in the third-year administrators receive a 2.0% GWI in addition to step movement.  As a 
result, the new contract will have yearly increases to the base administrators salary account as 
shown below: 

 2023-24:  3.04% overall increase (2.25% GWI/ .79% step); 
 2024-25:  2.99% overall increase (2.2% GWI/ .79% step); 
 2025-26:  2.62% overall increase (2% GWI/ 62% step).2

Insurance Premium Cost Sharing – Art. IX – Like all other Board bargaining units, the 
administrators are offered insurance through the Connecticut State Partnership Plan 2.0 (“SPP”).  
Currently administrators pay 19.5% of the cost of health and prescription drug insurance 
coverage premiums through the SPP, with the Board responsible for the remaining 80.5%.  For 
dental insurance, which is provided through a SPP-affiliated dental insurance plan, 
administrators pay 15% of the cost of premiums.   

Under the terms of the tentative agreement, administrators required premium cost share 
percentages for health and prescription drug insurance coverage through the SPP would increase 
to 20.5% in 2023-24, 21% in 2024-25 and 21.5% in 2025-26.  In addition, dental insurance 
premiums will now match health insurance premiums.  This means that in 2023-24 
administrators’ share of dental insurance premiums will jump from 15% to 20.5% and will then 
go to 21% in 2024-25 and 21.5% in 2025-26.  Thereafter, unless the contract language changes 
in future years, dental insurance premium cost shares will always match the health and 
prescription drug insurance premium cost shares. 

1 Historically, administrator three-year settlement averages trend about a percentage point behind teacher three-year 
settlement averages so the current three-percentage point difference between the average teacher and administrator 
settlement is unusual although it is still early in the season.   
2 These figures do not include the compounding impact of each yearly increase or the cost of increases to 
administrator tax sheltered annuities as noted below. 



Page 3 

The combined impact of these increases to administrator health, prescription drug and dental 
insurance premiums will result in significant cost avoidance for the Board.  

Tax Sheltered Annuity – Art. XII – The tentative agreement would increase the amounts the 
Board would be required to contribute to administrator tax sheltered annuities (“TSAs”) by $300 
in each year of the contract.  Currently, administrators are paid an annual TSA of $3,500.  By the 
end of the contract administrators will receive $4,400 in annual TSA payments. 

TSA contributions are common for administrators across the state and among East Hampton’s 
neighbors.  East Haddam administrators are currently eligible to receive maximum TSA 
contributions of $6,500 per year.  Region # 13 administrators receive TSA contributions of up to 
$3,200 per year, while Colchester and East Lyme administrators receive TSA contributions of 
$3,500 per year.  Many other administrator groups across the state receive comparable TSA 
contribution amounts from their employing boards of education. 

Based on the current count of nine administrators employed by the District, this new benefit will 
cost $2,700 in 2023-24, $5,400 in 2024-25 and $8,100 in 2025-26.  The aggregate cost of the 
increased TSA amounts therefore works out to roughly 1% of the base 2022-23 salary account 
over the course of three years. 

Insurance Benefits – Art. IX & Schedule B – In addition to premium cost share percentage 
increases, the tentative agreement also includes new contractual language that will only allow 
part-time administrators to obtain Board-provided insurance benefits on a pro-rated basis.  The 
existing contract does not pro-rate insurance benefits for part-time administrators so this change 
could garner savings for the Board in future years if the Board hires part-time administrators.  
This change would not impact 10-month administrators who are deemed to be 1.0 full-time 
equivalent employees. 

The agreement also amends existing language in the contract entitling departing administrators to 
continued insurance coverage over the summer months.  The new agreed-upon language clarifies 
that departing administrators must continue working on behalf of the District until June 30th of 
the year they are leaving the District to be eligible for continued insurance benefits in July and 
August and further provides that such benefits shall cease if the administrator is entitled to 
substantially comparable benefits through a subsequent employer. 

Severance Pay – Art. XIII --  The agreement eliminates existing language that entitled 
administrators who were hired prior to July 1, 2014 to payout of twenty-five percent of their 
accumulated sick leave upon resignation due to disability or retirement.  There are no longer any 
administrators in the bargaining unit who were hired prior to July 1, 2014 so the provision was 
no longer applicable. 

Remote Work – Art.  XII – The tentative agreement permits administrators to work from home 
for up to five school vacation days per year with the prior approval of the superintendent. 



Page 4 

Personal Leave – Art. III – Pursuant to the terms of the existing collective bargaining 
agreement, administrators who have exhausted their yearly allotment of personal days (five days 
for twelve-month administrators and four days for ten-month administrators) are eligible for 
additional personal days (four days for twelve-month administrators and three days for ten-
month administrators) if certain conditions are met.  Specifically, the additional personal days 
must be granted for necessary, private business that cannot be conducted outside of the work-day 
or for the observance of religious holidays so long as the administrator gives prior notice to the 
superintendent, no other administrators request leave for the same day and the requested day 
does not fall before or after a weekend, vacation or school holiday. 

The tentative agreement calls for eliminating this provision in favor of language permitting the 
superintendent to grant up to five days of additional personal leave in unusual circumstances.  
This change gives the superintendent discretion over extended personal leave in place of the 
existing language and may result in fewer aggregate personal days across the bargaining unit. 

Vacation Leave – Art. IV – The tentative agreement clarifies an existing provision on carry 
over of vacation days from year-to-year as well as language providing for the payout of accrued 
vacation leave upon separation.  With respect to accrued vacation leave, the agreement provides 
that administrators will not be entitled to more than thirty-five days of accumulated vacation 
leave at any point in time.  With respect to payout of vacation upon separation, the agreement 
clarifies that administrators are only eligible for such a payout upon voluntary separation (as 
opposed to termination or non-renewal) and also includes new language requiring administrators 
to give at least thirty days advance written notice of their intention to retire or resign in order to 
be eligible for such payout.  This prior notice provision will not apply in the case of an 
administrator’s death or sudden resignation caused by illness.  

In addition, the tentative agreement also includes a change to the “per-diem” calculation formula 
that is used to calculate payout for accrued vacation as well as reductions to salary in the event of 
an administrator’s unpaid leave of absence.  Under the current agreement, the per-diem rate of 
pay is determined by dividing annual salaries by 260 to reflect the number of work-days per 
year, irrespective of vacation leave and holidays.  The agreement calls for changing this formula, 
so the per-diem rate of pay is calculated by dividing annual salaries by 235 which discounts 
vacation leave and holiday.  As a result of this change, vacation leave payouts will be slightly 
higher upon an administrators’ retirement or resignation, but unpaid leaves of absence will be 
deducted from salaries at a higher rate.  

Initial Salary Placement – Art. XII – The agreement expands upon current language in the 
contract by permitting the superintendent to place new administrators on an appropriate step of 
the salary schedule based upon “relevant professional experience” as well as prior experience as 
an administrator.  This language can be a useful tool in recruiting administrators who may be 
well qualified for a position, but who may lack lengthy prior experience as an administrator.  



Page 5 

Grievance Procedure – Art. VII – Administrator grievances are rare.  Occasionally however 
grievances are filed for alleged contract violations.  The tentative agreement calls for new 
language limiting the applicability of so-called “continuing grievance” claims that seek to get 
around grievance time-limits by alleging that a condition is continuing and constitutes a new 
violation on each day it occurs.  Under the existing contract administrators must raise potential 
grievances within twenty days of the date the alleged condition occurred.  The added language 
provides that administrators cannot avoid this time limit by claiming a grievance situation 
continues if they failed to file a grievance within twenty days of the initial occurrence. 

Copies of Contract – Art. VI – The agreement provides that the Board will now be required to 
post the collective bargaining agreement on its website rather than print copies of the agreement 
and distribute copies to administrators. 

The tentative agreement also includes several additional language clarification changes 
that are minor in nature.  Attached to this summary is the direct cost impact analysis for the 
tentative agreement. 

It was a pleasure to serve as the Board’s spokesperson for these negotiations.  Please let 
me know if you have any questions about this summary. 

Very truly yours, 

Zachary D. Schurin, Esq. 



Page 6 

DIRECT COST IMPACT 

2022 Tentative Agreement for the Successor Agreement between  
EAST HAMPTON BOARD OF EDUCATION 

and 
EAST HAMPTON SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS’ ASSOCIATION 

The direct cost impact estimates the increased costs and/or (savings) to the Board in actual 
dollars due to the changes to the collective bargaining agreement.  Total cost is provided for each 
year of the contract in actual dollars and as a percentage of the prior year’s salary account. 

Compensation 

The 2022-23 total compensation for the Administrators bargaining unit is $1,419,570.3  The chart 
below shows projected cost increases over the life of the contract.  This accounting is subject to 
change based on changes to the composition of the bargaining unit (retirements, new hires, etc.) 
and the resulting change to financial items like step movement, longevity payment phase out, etc.  

2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 

General Wage Increase 31,940 31,933 29,903 

Step Cost 

TSA Contribution Increase 

11,467 

2,700 

11,719 

5,400 

9,455 

8,100 

TOTAL COST in $: $46,107 $49,052 $47,458 

TOTAL COST as %: 3.2 3.3 3.1 

3 This figure includes salaries and TSA contributions.  It does not include ESY/Summer School stipend payments, 
mileage or professional development funds.  



Page 7 

Health Insurance

The 2022-23 Health and Prescription Drug Insurance Account is $266,722 before premium cost 
sharing percentages are applied.  The 2022-23 Dental Insurance Account is $14,264 before 
premium cost sharing percentages are applied.  Estimating potential insurance savings is very 
difficult because annual premiums are subject to significant fluctuations.  However, given the 
current health and dental insurance premium cost share percentages of 19.5% for medical and 
15% for dental, the Board can anticipate the following: 

2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 

Health/Rx Premium Cost Share 

Cost Avoidance 

2,667 4,001 5,334 

Dental Premium Cost Avoidance 787 858 930 

SAVINGS DUE TO COST 

AVOIDANCE $3,454 $4,859 $6,264 

Total Net Costs 

2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 

Total Net Cost – salary/TSA offset by 

insurance savings due to  

estimated cost avoidance 

$42,653 $44,193 $41,194 

Total Net Cost as a 
 % of salary/TSA account of   

year
3.0% 3.0% 2.7% 

ACTIVE/76076.35/ZSCHURIN/10604889v2 



COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT 

between 

The EAST HAMPTON BOARD OF EDUCATION 

and 

The EAST HAMPTON SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS' ASSOCIATION 
CONNECTICUT FEDERATION OF SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS  

LOCAL 42J 

July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2026 



i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

ARTICLE DESCRIPTION PAGE 

I GENERAL ................................................................................................................... 1 

II RECOGNITION ........................................................................................................... 1 

III ABSENCES .................................................................................................................. 2 

IV  ANNUAL LEAVE ....................................................................................................... 5 

V ADMINISTRATIVE ASSIGNMENTS ...................................................................... 6 

VI  COPIES OF CONTRACT ........................................................................................... 7 

VII  GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE ...................................................................................... 7 

VIII  JUST CAUSE ............................................................................................................. 10 

IX  INSURANCE BENEFITS ......................................................................................... 10 

X PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT ....................................................................... 13 

XI  MILEAGE .................................................................................................................. 13 

XII  SALARIES ................................................................................................................. 13 

XIII  REMOTE WORK ...................................................................................................... 14 

XIV  SEVERABILITY ....................................................................................................... 14 

XV  DURATION ............................................................................................................... 14 

SIGNATURE BLOCK............................................................................................... 15 

SCHEDULE A ........................................................................................................... 16 

SCHEDULE B ........................................................................................................... 17 



1 

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT 
Between the 

EAST HAMPTON BOARD OF EDUCATION 
and the 

EAST HAMPTON SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS' ASSOCIATION 
CONNECTICUT FEDERATION OF SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS 

LOCAL 42J 

INTRODUCTION 

This Agreement is by and between the EAST HAMPTON BOARD OF EDUCATION 
(hereinafter referred to as the "Board") and the EAST HAMPTON SCHOOL 
ADMINISTRATORS' ASSOCIATION (hereafter referred to as the "EHSAA"). 

ARTICLE I 
GENERAL

A. This Agreement is negotiated under §§10-153a-g of the Connecticut General Statutes. 

B. Nothing in this Agreement which changes pre-existing Board policy, rules, or regulations 
shall operate retroactively unless expressly so stated. 

C. The contract shall be interpreted in accordance with all present Board policy as amended 
from time to time. 

D. Nothing in this Agreement between the Board and the EHSAA shall in any way limit or 
contravene the authority of any other municipal, state or federal board, commission, agency 
or other governmental body or authority. 

ARTICLE II 
RECOGNITION 

A. The Board recognizes the EHSAA as the exclusive bargaining representative for all certified 
personnel employees of the East Hampton School District who are employed in positions 
requiring an intermediate administrator or supervisor certificate, or the equivalent thereof, 
and are not excluded from the purview of §10-153 a-g. 

B. The EHSAA agrees to represent equally all administrators without regard to membership or 
participation in, or association with, the activities of the EHSAA or any other employee 
organization. 



2 

C. The Board agrees to make deductions from the pay of members of the Association upon the 
receipt of a written authorization from the employee.  Such deduction shall continue for the 
duration of this Agreement or any extension thereof. 

D. Said deduction shall be made during a regular payroll week of each month and shall be 
remitted to the EHSAA, together with a list of the names of employees from whose salaries 
such deduction have been made, not later than ten (10) days following the end of the month.   

E. The EHSAA agrees to indemnify and to hold and save the Board harmless against any and 
all claims, damages, suits or other forms of liability including reasonable attorney's fees that 
shall or may arise out of or by reason of any action taken by the Board for the purpose of 
complying with the provisions of the Article. 

ARTICLE III 
ABSENCES 

Administrators must document all personal absences via an absence reporting system as designated 
by the Board. 

A. Sick Leave 

1. "Twelve Month" administrators shall be granted eighteen (18) sick days per year for 
personal illness, quarantine or injury cumulative to one hundred ninety (190) days.  
"10 Month" administrators shall be granted fifteen (15) sick days per year for 
personal illness, quarantine or injury cumulative to one hundred fifty (150) days. 

2. Administrators shall be saved harmless in accordance with §§10-235 and 10-236a of 
the Connecticut General Statutes as they may be amended from time to time.  This 
provision is not subject to the grievance procedure under the contract. 

3. Pregnancy Disability Leave - Administrators will be granted pregnancy disability 
leave in accordance with the law. 

4. Additional Sick Leave 

a. When all sick days granted in Article III, section A-1 are exhausted, a new 
12 month administrator may be advanced up to twelve (12) additional sick 
leave days, and a new 10 month administrator may be advanced up to ten 
(10) sick leave days.  All advanced days will be paid back the following 
school year either through payroll deduction or subtraction from the 
administrator’s annual sick leave accrual. 

b. When sick leave accumulates to one hundred ninety days (190), 
administrators will have the following options: 

1. In any school year, sick leave will be taken from the days 
accumulated by the administrator for this purpose.  Up to a total not 



3 

exceeding two hundred and eight days (208) may be applied to a 
prolonged absence at full pay in accordance with the conditions of 
this contract. 

2. Once an administrator has accumulated one hundred ninety (190) 
sick days in any year and is eligible for the additional eighteen days 
(18), or portion thereof, all or part of these eighteen days (18) can be 
placed and accumulated in a special "bank" under the following 
conditions: 

a. If he/she has used less than (190) days for sick leave, these 
days will be subtracted from the 190 accumulated days and 
the 18 days above this will be placed in the "bank." 

b. If he/she has used more than 190 days, but less than the 208 
day maximum defined in section 1 above, those days of the 
additional 18 not used for sick leave will accumulate in the 
special bank. 

c. Days accumulating in the special bank cannot be used to 
restore sick leave to the 190 day accumulation level.  Only 
those 18 days restored each school year may be used to build 
the accumulation level to 190 again. 

d. Administrators who have accumulated days in the special 
bank will be paid for these days at the rate of Thirty ($30.00) 
Dollars.   Payment for these days will be made at the time of 
resignation, retirement, or death of the administrator. In the 
event of the death of an administrator, the monies for the 
payment of such days will be paid to the estate of the 
administrator. 

e. All days accumulating in the special bank will be recorded by 
the office of the Superintendent at the end of the school year 
in June of any year.  The total accumulation of days in the 
special bank will be posted for verification by the 
administrator on the Notification of Salary and Benefits form 
given to each administrator by October 31. 

5. Each administrator shall receive written notification of his/her accumulated sick 
leave each year. 

B. Personal Leave 

1. Current 12 month administrators may receive up to five (5) personal leave days and 
current 10 month administrators up to four (4) personal leave days in any school 
year with full pay.  Such leave days may be taken with the approval of the 



4 

Superintendent to attend to private personal business that cannot otherwise be 
transacted outside of the regular work day or work year or other compelling matters 
as determined by the Superintendent. 

2. Under unusual circumstances, the Superintendent of Schools may, in a particular 
instance, grant additional personal days and extend the maximum allowance of five 
(5) days per year after all days have been used or are about to be used. 

3. Upon recommendation of the Superintendent, and with the approval of the Board, an 
administrator may be granted a leave of absence with or without pay for a period of 
time determined by the Board. Each such situation shall be viewed as unique and 
shall have no precedent setting impact on any other request for any personal leave.  
Any approved absence without pay shall result in a deduction of 1/235 of the annual 
salary for each day for a 12 month administrator and 1/204th for each day taken by a 
10 month administrator. 

C. Professional Leave - Absence for Professional Reasons:   Subject to prior approval by the 
Superintendent, an administrator may be absent for visiting days, attendance at conventions, 
participation in school evaluation, educational conferences, and/or other forms of 
professional improvement, without deduction from his/her salary, or loss of days granted for 
other categories of excused absences. 

D. In the event an administrator is called to Jury Duty, he/she will notify the Superintendent.  
The Board will pay the administrator the difference between the compensation he/she 
received for jury duty and his/her regular salary. 

E. Catastrophic Illness or Physical Disability 

In the event of absence due to catastrophic illness or physical disability of a tenured 
administrator beyond the granted sick leave allotment, the Board shall make the requisite 
payments to maintain in full force all existing insurance programs for this administrator for 
the remainder of the fiscal year in which his/her sick leave is exhausted and shall provide 
said administrator with the opportunity to continue at his/her own expense this policy at the 
premium amount.  This paragraph does not apply to terminated or retired employees. 

F. Extended Professional Leave 

In its desire to reward and to encourage independent research and achievement, the East 
Hampton Board of Education hereby initiates the policy of extended professional leave for 
administrators upon recommendation of the Superintendent for approved scholarly 
programs contributing to the East Hampton Public Schools.  Requests for extended 
Professional leave must relate directly to the administrators assigned responsibilities and 
duties in the East Hampton Public Schools. 

1. No more than one (1) member of the administrative staff shall be absent on extended 
professional leave at one time. 



5 

2. Requests for extended professional leave for a school year must be given to the 
Superintendent in written form no later than December 31 of the preceding year.  
The Superintendent shall forward to the Board of Education the administrator's 
request and the Superintendent's recommendation for Board approval.  An 
administrator on extended leave must give written notice of his/her intention to 
return by February 1 of the year prior to the school year of his/her return. 

3. Extended professional leave for administrators may be granted with or without pay 
or fringe benefits. 

4. The administrator must have completed at least nine (9) consecutive full school 
years of service as an administrator in the East Hampton schools to apply for 
Professional Leave. 

5. If an extended professional leave is granted with pay, the administrator will be paid 
one half of his/her annual salary rate, providing that such pay, when added to any 
program grant, shall not exceed the administrator's full annual salary rate. 

6. The administrator shall agree to return to East Hampton for three (3) full years work. 

7. Prior to commencement of extended professional leave, the administrator will sign 
an agreement to return to the district for three (3) years of future service immediately 
following extended professional leave, or in the alternative, will repay the Board of 
Education the full amount of extended professional leave payment received reduced 
by 1/3 for each year worked, immediately upon failure to comply with the future 
service agreement. In cases of exceptional hardship, the Board may release the 
administrator from the obligations to pay all or part of the extended professional 
leave payments upon his/her failure to comply with the future service requirement. 

G. Association Leave 

A leave of absence may be granted without pay upon application by an administrator for a 
period not to exceed one school year for the purpose of serving as an officer of a national 
administrators' association.  The status of the administrator shall be continued in respect to 
seniority, salary, retirement and in any other areas as though such leave were not taken. 

ARTICLE IV 
ANNUAL LEAVE 

A. All 12 month administrators represented by the EHSAA shall be entitled to five weeks (25 
days) paid vacation subject to Section A.3.  

1. Administrators are encouraged to utilize all vacation time during the year in which it 
is earned.  Vacation leave may be taken during the school year with the prior 
approval of the Superintendent. 



6 

2. During the first year of employment of an administrator, vacation shall be prorated 
based on whole months of service. 

3. It is agreed that administrators will not take vacation time two (2) weeks prior to the 
opening of school. 

4. Vacation schedules shall be approved by the Superintendent based on requests 
submitted by administrators by June 1st of each year. 

5. With written approval received from the Superintendent and granted prior to April 
1st of a school year, an administrator may carry over into the following school year 
up to ten (10) earned but unused vacation days.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
administrators shall not be entitled to more than thirty-five (35) days of accumulated 
vacation leave at any point in time. 

6. Administrators shall be compensated for accumulated and unused vacation at a rate 
of 1/235 , provided vacation earned during that year shall be credited on a pro-rata basis for 
purposes of calculating such payment upon separation of employment except in cases where 
an administrator’s employment is terminated or non-renewed pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stat. § 
10-151.  Such payment shall be contingent upon the separating administrator providing at 
least thirty (30) days advance written notice to the Superintendent of his or her intention to 
retire or resign.  This notice provision shall be waived in the event of the administrator’s 
death or separation due to illness.   

B. The following paid holidays shall be granted: 

New Year's Day and Eve Labor Day 
Martin Luther King Day Columbus Day 
President's Day Veterans’ Day* 
Good Friday  Thanksgiving and the day after 
Memorial Day  Christmas Eve Day 
Independence Day  Christmas Day (if Christmas is a Thursday, 
Lincoln’s Birthday *     Friday is a paid holiday) 

*Lincoln's Birthday and Veteran’s Day shall only be a holiday when school is not in session.  
If school is in session, the Superintendent shall designate another day off when school is not 
in session, after consultation with the administrators. 

C. Administrators shall be released from their duties as soon as they have completed all 
arrangements for an emergency school closing and have notified the central office. 

D. Ten (10) month administrators shall not be eligible for paid vacation or holidays. 

ARTICLE V 
ADMINISTRATIVE ASSIGNMENTS

A. In the event the Board decides to permanently transfer, change or alter the duties or 
responsibilities of any position represented by the Association, it shall notify the 



7 

administrator(s) at least thirty (30) days prior to the proposed change.  The administrator(s) 
shall have an opportunity to meet and consult with the Board.  Any affected administrator 
will continue to receive his/her present salary for three (3) months or the remainder of the 
current fiscal year in which the appointment becomes effective, whichever is longer. 

B. Administrators involuntarily transferred should be furnished with a letter to be placed in 
their personnel files, and a copy for their personal files, stating the reason for their transfer. 

C. If an administrator is relieved of his/her duties because of a reduction in staff or an 
elimination of position and employed as a teacher, he/she shall be given the experience 
credit on the salary schedule in accordance with the teacher contract and shall retain all 
accumulated sick leave up to the maximum permitted by the teachers’ contract, and shall be 
paid for any sick bank days previously earned as an administrator. 

D. Any administrator who has been displaced as aforesaid shall be placed on a reappointment 
list for three years for his/her former administrative position. 

E. Vacancy notices for new positions shall be posted within five (5) school days after the 
position becomes vacant or is created. 

ARTICLE VI 
COPIES OF CONTRACT 

The Board shall post on its website complete copies of the contract agreement together with salary 
schedules. 

ARTICLE VII 
GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

A. Purpose 

The purpose of this procedure is to secure at the lowest possible administrative level, 
equitable solutions to problems which may arise under the specific provisions of this 
Agreement.  Both parties agree that these procedures shall be kept as informal and 
confidential as may be appropriate at any given level. 

B. Definitions 

1. A grievance shall mean a complaint by a member of the EHSAA regarding a 
violation of the specific provision or provisions of this Agreement to the detriment 
of the administrator(s) involved. 

2. The term "administrator" as used in this grievance procedure shall mean any 
administrator within the bargaining unit covered by this Agreement. 

3. An "aggrieved person" is the person or persons making the claim. 



8 

C. Time Limit 

1. "Days" shall mean when school is in session, except after May 1 when days shall be 
calendar days, so that the matter may be resolved before the end of the school term 
or as soon as possible thereafter. 

2. If an administrator does not file a grievance, in writing, as provided herein within 
twenty (20) days after the act or condition on which the grievance is based, then the 
grievance shall be considered as waived.  If a grievance situation continues or 
reoccurs, such continuation or recurrence shall not extend the initial time for filing a 
grievance and shall not be considered as a separate grievance. 

D. Procedure 

1. A grievance may be instituted by the following procedure: 

a. An aggrieved person shall appeal in person and in writing to the 
Superintendent and shall be accompanied by a representative. 

2. Level One 

a. Any grievance must be first brought to the attention of the Superintendent, in 
person, accompanied by a written statement setting forth the provision or 
provisions of the agreement alleged to have been violated.  Said grievance 
must be answered, in writing, within ten (10) working days. 

3. Level Two 

a. In the event that an aggrieved person is not satisfied with the disposition of 
the grievance by the Superintendent, he/she may, within five (5) working 
days of receipt of the Superintendent's decision, appeal in writing to the 
Board of Education. 

b. The Board shall meet with the aggrieved person by the date of its next 
regularly scheduled Board meeting provided the grievance is submitted by 
the Wednesday prior to the next regularly scheduled Board meeting.  In no 
case shall the appeal be delayed longer than thirty (30) calendar days.  

c. The Board shall render its decision within twenty (20) working days from 
the Board hearing date.  The Board's decision will be in writing and 
submitted to the aggrieved person. 

4. Level Three 

a. In the event the aggrieved person is not satisfied with the decision of the 
Board, he/she may, within three (3) days after receipt of the Board's decision, 



9 

request in writing to the Association President that this grievance be 
submitted to binding arbitration. 

b. The Association may within five (5) days after the receipt of such request (a 
total of eight days after the administrator has received the Board's decision) 
submit the grievance to binding arbitration by filing a demand for arbitration 
with the American Arbitration Association.  Such submission shall set forth 
the provision or provisions alleged to have been violated by the Board of 
Education and shall be filed simultaneously with the Superintendent of 
Schools. 

c. The Chairman of the Board and the President of the Association shall, within 
five (5) days after such written notice, jointly submit the grievance to the 
American Arbitration Association. 

d. The arbitrator designated shall hear and decide only one grievance at a time, 
and shall be bound by and must comply with all terms of this Agreement and 
shall have no power to add to, subtract from, or in any way modify the 
provision of this Agreement.  The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and 
binding upon parties. 

e. Under no circumstances shall administrators approach individual Board 
members on questions of policy or administration. 

f. The cost of binding arbitration shall be borne equally by the Board and the 
Association. 

E. Miscellaneous 

1. Any agreement to alter the timetable of the grievance procedure shall be by mutual 
consent between the Board and the Association and reduced to writing. 

2. Grievance records shall be kept separate from regular personnel records. 

3. No reprisals of any kind shall be taken by either party against any individual by 
reason of such individual's participation or non-participation in the grievance 
procedure. 

4. If an aggrieved administrator elects to carry a grievance to binding arbitration 
independent of the Association, then the cost for the services of the arbitrator shall 
be borne by the aggrieved. 

5. If an aggrieved administrator elects to submit a grievance to binding arbitration, 
he/she must file such submission within fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt of the 
Board's decision under Level Two of the grievance procedure.  Such submission 
shall state the provision or provisions alleged to have been violated by the Board of 
Education and shall be filed simultaneously with the Superintendent of Schools. 



10 

ARTICLE VIII 
JUST CAUSE 

No administrator shall be disciplined without just cause.  This provision shall not apply to 
terminations, evaluations, transfers, assignments or oral reprimands.  

ARTICLE IX 
INSURANCE BENEFITS 

A. 1. The only medical, Rx and dental insurance plan offered by the Board shall be the 
Connecticut State Partnership Plan 2.0 (“SP2.0”).  The administration of the SP2.0, 
including open enrollment, beneficiary eligibility and changes, and other 
administration provisions shall be as established by the SP2.0. 

2. The premium cost share percentages for medical, Rx and dental (SP2.0 Option 5) 
benefits under the SP2.0 shall be as follows: 

 Effective July 1, 2023, the employee shall pay 20.5% of the premium cost 
share for medical, Rx and dental coverage. 

 Effective July 1, 2024, the employee shall pay 21% of the premium cost 
share for medical, Rx and dental coverage. 

 Effective July 1, 2025, the employee shall pay 21.5% of the premium cost 
share for medical, Rx and dental coverage. 

4. Premium rates will be established by the State of Connecticut for the relevant 
periods, and shall be inclusive of medical, Rx, and dental. 

5. The premium rates will be as established by the State for single, employee + one and 
family, and for actives, pre-65 retirees, Medicare retirees and post-65 non- Medicare 
eligible retirees, but blended to provide for uniform rates across category for actives 
and retirees.  This may result in active administrators paying a higher premium than 
the applicable rate listed, using Method 2, which distributes the difference evenly to 
all active members. 

6. SP2.0 design and co-payments shall be as specified in the attached medical, Rx and 
dental benefit summary documents, attached hereto as Schedule B. 

7. The SP2.0 Cigna Vision Rider (lenses and frames) will be offered.  However, 
medical based vision issues and checkups are provided through SP2.0. 

8. In the event the SP2.0 is amended by the State, such amendments shall be in full 
force and effect for the term of the collective bargaining agreement, without the 
necessity of any action by either the Board or the Union, but shall not limit or curtail 
the Board’s rights to leave SP2.0 for an equal or better plan as set forth in Section F 
of this Article. 



11 

9. The SP2.0 contains a Health Enhancement Plan (“HEP”) component.  All employees 
participating in the SP2.0 will be required to join the HEP and will be subject to its 
terms and provisions.  Details of the HEP are addressed in the HEP program 
description as set forth in Appendix B. 

10. Participation in the SP2.0 and the HEP are conditioned upon the employee 
completing and submitting necessary enrollment forms (written or electronic as 
determined by the administrator) during the specified enrollment period, and also 
signing an authorization for the deductions of premium cost shares through payroll 
deductions. 

11. In the event SP2.0 Plan administrators impose HEP non-participation or non-
compliance premium cost share increases or deductibles (including individual and 
family deductibles), those sums shall be paid in their entirety by the non-
participating or non-compliant employee. No portion or percentage of such premium 
cost increase or deductible shall be paid by the Board.  Non-HEP compliant premium 
cost increases shall be implemented through payroll deduction, and non-HEP 
compliant annual deductibles shall be implemented through claims administration.  
Notwithstanding the above, any amendments to the terms of the HEP shall be 
applicable to employees participating in the SP2.0. 

B. If the total cost of the SP2.0 plan offered pursuant to this Agreement triggers an excise tax 
under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (Internal Revenue code Section 
4980I), the parties shall commence mid-term negotiations in accordance with the Teachers 
Negotiation Act.  During such mid-term negotiations, the Association and District shall 
reopen for the purpose of addressing the impact of the excise tax.  No other provision of the 
Agreement shall be reopened during such mid-term negotiations. 

C. Subject to law, including the rules and regulations of the Internal Revenue Service, the 
Board shall maintain a “Section 125” salary reduction agreement which shall be designed to 
permit exclusion from taxable income of the employee’s share of health insurance 
premiums. 

D. The Board shall contribute to the cost of insurance for administrators who are employed by 
the Board on a half-time or greater but less than full-time basis in a manner that corresponds 
to their less than full-time equivalent status.  For instance, for an administrator who is 
employed on a .5 FTE basis the Board shall only be responsible for 50% of its full-time 
administrator insurance premium cost share with the remaining percentage paid for by the 
administrator if he or she elects to secure insurance benefits.  Similarly, for an administrator 
who is employed on a .8 FTE basis the Board shall only be responsible for 80% of its full-
time administrator insurance premium cost share with the remaining percentage paid for by 
the administrator if he or she elects to secure insurance benefits.  Premium cost share 
payments for eligible less than full-time administrators shall be made through automatic 
payroll deduction.  In providing such coverage the Board must adhere to all policy 
guidelines based on carrier requirements and policy.   



12 

E. The Board shall also provide group life insurance coverage in an amount equal to two times 
the annual salary of each administrator rounded to the nearest $500.00.  

F.  An administrator who resigns from employment with the District but continues his or her 
administrative assignment until June 30th shall be entitled to appropriate fringe benefits 
through August 31 provided he or she is not entitled to substantially comparable benefits 
through his or her subsequent employer. 

F. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board shall have the right to change insurance carriers 
(including a change in third party administrators) in whole or in part, in order to provide 
insurance coverage set forth above provided that the plan(s) which result(s) from change in 
carriers or third-party administrators are, substantially equivalent to the plan(s) described 
above, in terms of coverage, benefits, and administration.  The HDHP/HSA plan that the 
Board offered administrators prior to implementation of the SP2.0, inclusive of all 
applicable premium cost share, deductible and plan design features, shall be considered a 
“substantially equivalent” plan for purposes of this Article.   

The president of the Association shall be notified in writing within thirty days of any intention 
to change carriers or third-party administrators and shall have a reasonable opportunity to 
review the proposed changes, but shall have no more than thirty days from the date the new 
plan is presented to the Association.  The proposed changes shall be presented to the 
Association through a Board Committee including a representative of the insurance carrier 
who will explain the proposed changes.  If the Association does not approve of the proposed 
changes recommended by the Superintendent, it shall submit a written statement detailing the 
reasons for such disapproval, specifically listing the reduction in the level of coverage, 
benefits or administration to which it objects.  The Association must submit this written 
statement within thirty days of the meeting noted above.  Failure to submit such statement 
within the thirty days time period shall be deemed approval of the proposed plan and a waiver 
of any right to arbitrate the issue. 

If the Association disapproves of any change pursuant to the written statement noted above, it 
may submit the issue to arbitration within fifteen calendar days of receipt of notice from the 
Superintendent that the Board intends to implement the new plan.  The Board must receive a 
written decision therein prior to implementing any change.  The sole substantive issue for 
arbitration shall be as follows: Is the proposed insurance plan(s) substantially equivalent to the 
existing plan(s) in terms of benefits, coverage, and administration.  

G. All insurance coverages shall be provided in accordance with the terms of the insurance 
carrier or third-party administrator administering the plan in effect.  Disputes concerning an 
employee’s eligibility or entitlement to the benefits contained herein are matters which are 
to be resolved by the employee and the insurance carrier administering the plan. 

H. The Plan documents for the above noted plan(s) shall be on file in the Business Office.  The 
plan(s) documents contain the details governing the medical and dental programs and shall 
prevail in cases of conflicts with the summaries. 

I. DISABILITY PLAN:  Upon appropriate written authorization by employees in the 



13 

bargaining unit, the Board will make premium deductions from the first check of each 
month for any individual or group disability plan.  It shall be the responsibility of the 
employee to address any deduction concerns directly with the disability company.  It is 
understood that the Board assumes no responsibility for incorrect withholding, clerical 
errors, or rebates.  Disputes as to eligibility, payments, coverage or any other provision of 
the disability plan are not the Board’s responsibility but must be addressed directly to the 
insured’s company.  It is understood that the East Hampton Board of Education does not 
sponsor or promote the Standard Insurance Company group disability plan or any other 
disability plan in which employees may enroll.  It is understood that the Board of 
Education does not guarantee the continuation of any group disability plan and that the 
disability insurance company may terminate said plan at any time.  The East Hampton 
Administrators’ Association shall indemnify and save the Board harmless from any 
claim, demand, lawsuit, or damages arising out of the Board’s implementation of the 
payroll deduction for such plan. 

ARTICLE X 
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Board shall provide a total yearly sum of twelve thousand five hundred dollars ($12,500.00) for 
all administrators to draw on to take advantage of advanced course work.  Use of the above sum 
shall be approved by the Superintendent and shall be subject to applicable IRS rules. 

ARTICLE XI 
MILEAGE 

The Board will budget $750 (in twelve monthly checks of $62.50) per year to reimburse 
administrators for all school related travel.   

Should the administrator exceed the budgeted amount, he/she will be compensated additionally at 
the I.R.S. rates then in effect. 

ARTICLE XII 
SALARIES 

A. The salary schedule for administrators, designated as Schedule A is affixed hereto and made 
an integral part of this Agreement.  

B. Certificated administrators who have an earned doctorate shall be placed at a salary 
$1,000.00 above the step to which they would otherwise have been entitled. 

C. Administrators who are promoted to positions within the bargaining unit shall be placed on 
that step which the administrator would have attained in his/her previous position on the 
effective date of the promotion. 

D. Administrators who are hired from outside the bargaining unit with previous administrative 
or relevant professional experience shall be credited with such experience as deemed 
appropriate for the position by the Superintendent of Schools.  



14 

E. Tax Sheltered Annuity:  The Board of education will contribute to a 403(b) account 
established by the administrator with a yearly contribution of the following: 

$3,800 effective July 1, 2023 
$4,100 effective July 1, 2024 
$4,400 effective July 1, 2025 

It is the intent of the parties that the amount of the elective tax sheltered annuity shall be 
added to and become part of the administrators’ base salary and be reported as such for State 
Teacher retirement purposes.   

F. Supplemental Pay:  The Board of Education recognizes that the work load and responsibility 
to oversee the summer school programs is an additional responsibility only assumed by the 
building administrator in which the summer school program is housed. 

In order to establish equity in the responsibilities for all administrators in the summer, 
school buildings which house ESY summer school programs, the designated administrator 
of said building should receive a stipend of $3,500 

ARTICLE XIII 
REMOTE WORK 

Administrators shall be allowed to work remotely up to five (5) school vacation days with approval 
of the Superintendent.   

ARTICLE XIV 
SEVERABILITY 

In the event that any provision or portion of this Agreement is ultimately ruled invalid for any 
reason by an authority of established and competent legal jurisdiction, the balance and remainder of 
the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

ARTICLE XV 
DURATION

The provisions of this Agreement shall be effective as of July 1, 2023 and shall continue and remain 
in full force and effect through June 30, 2026. 



15 

SIGNATURE BLOCK 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused these presents to be executed by 
their proper officer, hereunto duly authorized, and their seals affixed hereto as of the date and year 
first above written. 

EAST HAMPTON BOARD OF EDUCATION 

By   

Date   

EAST HAMPTON SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS' 
ASSOCIATION CONNECTICUT FEDERATION 
OF SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS Local 42J 

By   

Date   



16 

SCHEDULE A 
East Hampton Administrative Salary Schedule  

2023-24 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5

High School Principal 164,634 166,907 169,194 171,732 174,309 

Middle School Principal 158,108 160,348 162,604 165,043 167,518 

Center School Principal 155,171 157,394 159,636 162,030 164,461 

Memorial School Principal 155,171 157,394 159,636 162,030 164,461 

Director of Support Services 159,558 161,807 164,068 166,529 169,026 

Director of Curriculum and Instruction 159,558 161,807 164,068 166,529 169,026 

High School Assistant Principal 144,446 146,656 148,845 151,078 153,345 

Middle School Assistant Principal 138,683 140,827 142,906 145,138 147,327 

Memorial School Assistant Principal 132,884 134,998 137,128 139,185 141,274 

2024-25 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5

High School Principal 168,256 170,579 172,916 175,510 178,143 

Middle School Principal 161,587 163,876 166,181 168,674 171,204 

Center School Principal 158,584 160,857 163,148 165,595 168,079 

Memorial School Principal 158,584 160,857 163,148 165,595 168,079 

Director of Support Services 163,068 165,366 167,678 170,193 172,745 

Director of Curriculum and Instruction 163,068 165,366 167,678 170,193 172,745 

High School Assistant Principal 147,623 149,883 152,120 154,402 156,719 

Middle School Assistant Principal 141,734 143,925 146,132 148,323 150,548 

Memorial School Assistant Principal 135,807 137,968 140,145 142,247 144,382 

2025-26 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5

High School Principal 171,621 173,990 176,375 179,020 181,706 

Middle School Principal 164,818 167,154 169,505 172,047 174,628 

Center School Principal 161,756 164,074 166,411 168,907 171,441 

Memorial School Principal 161,756 164,074 166,411 168,907 171,441 

Director of Support Services 166,330 168,674 171,031 173,597 176,200 

Director of Curriculum and Instruction 166,330 168,674 171,031 173,597 176,200 

High School Assistant Principal 150,576 152,880 155,162 157,490 159,853 

Middle School Assistant Principal 144,568 146,804 149,055 151,290 153,559 

Memorial School Assistant Principal 138,524 140,727 142,948 145,092 147,269 

Longevity 
10 Years = $400 
15 Years = $600 
20 Years = $800 

Administrators hired on and after July 1, 2017 shall not be eligible for longevity pay. 
Administrators not at top step will advance one step level in each year of the Agreement. 

ACTIVE/76076.35/ZSCHURIN/10566159v2 



APPENDIX B

















Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION 

East Hampton Town Council 

A Resolution Regarding Replacement of the Roof at the 
East Hampton Middle School 

DRAFT – October 6, 2022 
WHEREAS, the Town of East Hampton’s approved Five Year Capital 

Improvements Plan anticipates replacement of the Middle School Roof in the 
2024 Fiscal Year, and 

WHEREAS, the Town of East Hampton (“Town”) anticipates funding the 
replacement of said roof using funds available in the Connecticut School 
Construction Grant Program in combination with other funding sources, and  

WHEREAS, the Town desires to take certain steps and make certain 
statements as appropriate to facilitate an application for said grant and roof 
replacement project.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town of East Hampton 
Town Council that the East Hampton Board of Education is hereby authorized to 
apply to the Commission of Administrative Services and to accept or reject a 
grant for the Roof Replacement Project at the East Hampton Middle School. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Middle School Roof Building 
Committee is hereby established as the building committee with regard to the 
Roof Replacement at the East Hampton Middle School and shall consist of a 
member of the Town Council as appointed by the Town Council Chairperson, a 
member of the Board of Education as appointed by the Board of Education 
Chairperson and a member of the general public as appointed by the Town 
Council.  Such Committee shall also include the Facilities Director as an ex 
officio, non-voting member who shall be responsible for administrative support of 
the committee including keeping of minutes.  The Committee shall select its own 
chairperson.  Further, the Committee is authorized to develop the final project 
specifications and the Request for Proposal(RFP) for construction;  issue, receive 
and review responses to the RFP; recommend a contract for award by the Town 
Council; if approved, implement plans consistent with public approval through 
appropriate agents and Town inspectors; examine and approve all payments in 
connection with the construction of such project; and approve and accept the 
completed project subject to the advice of the Facilities Director and the Town’s 
inspectors.  The Committee created by this resolution shall cease and its 
membership be terminated without further action once the assigned project has 
been completed and turned over to the Town and Board of Education. 

Agenda Item 7a-1



Page 2 of 2 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the that the Town Council hereby 
authorizes at least the preparation of schematic drawings and outline 
specifications for the Roof Replacement at the East Hampton Middle School. 

Approved this 11th day of October, 2022. 

TOWN COUNCIL 

___________________________________ 
Mark Philhower, Chairperson 

ATTEST 

_________________________________ 
Kelly Bilodeau, Town Clerk 



Page 1 of 1 

RESOLUTION 

East Hampton Town Council 

A Resolution Rescinding the Allocation of American Rescue Plan Funds 

Draft – October 6, 2022 

WHEREAS, the Town of East Hampton Town Council previously allocated a 
portion of its American Rescue Plan State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (SLFRF) to 
the East Hampton Middle School Roof Replacement project anticipated to be 
constructed in fiscal year 2024, and which replacement was estimated to cost $1.7 
million, and 

WHEREAS, the Town of East Hampton Town Council hereby determines that it 
desires to utilize the SLFRF in a different manner and will finance the aforementioned 
Roof Replacement Project by alternative means.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town of East Hampton Town 
Council that the previous allocation of American Rescue Plan State and Local Fiscal 
Recovery Funds identified in American Rescue Plan Funds Resolution Number 1 is 
hereby rescinded and those funds are available for reallocation as the Council may see 
fit. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Town Manager and the Finance Director take 
appropriate steps to implement this resolution and remove any earmark for these funds. 

Approved this 11h day of October, 2022. 

TOWN COUNCIL 

___________________________________ 
Mark Philhower, Chairperson 

ATTEST 

_________________________________ 
Kelly Bilodeau, Town Clerk 

Agenda Item 7a - 2



RESOLUTION 

East Hampton Town Council 

A Resolution Regarding an Additional Appropriation to the Board of Education 
For Armed Security Officers and  

Establishing the Required Resolution 
and Special Town Meeting 

DRAFT – October 6, 2022 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Town Charter Section 4.1 and Town Code Section 

45-3,  any single or group of additional appropriations in excess of $25,000 in a
given fiscal year shall be acted upon by the Town Meeting, and

WHEREAS, the Town of East Hampton (“Town”) desires to appropriate 
$105,000 to the FY 2023 Board of Education general fund operating budget to 
fund the employment of three additional Armed Security Officers (ASO) using 
funds available in the unassigned general fund balance of the Town, and  

WHEREAS, the request is made by the Board of Education and was 
considered by the Board of Finance at its meeting on September 19, 2022 at which 
the Board of Finance recommended to appropriate the funds as describe herein 
above.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town of East Hampton 
Town Council that the Town Meeting of the Town of East Hampton consider and 
act upon the following Resolution, which the Council hereby recommends be 
approved and which the Town Council hereby adopts. 

Town of East Hampton 
Town Meeting 

Resolution Of The Town Meeting To Appropriate $105,000 To The FY 
2023 Board Of Education General Fund Operating Budget For The 

Purpose Of Employing Up To Three Additional Armed Security 
Officers 

Resolved, the Town of East Hampton Town Meeting hereby appropriates 
$105,000 to the FY 2023 Board of Education General Fund Operating Budget for 
the purpose of employing up to three additional Armed Security Officers and such 
appropriation shall be funded from the unassigned General Fund balance of the 
Town of East Hampton in the amount of $105,000.  The appropriation may be 
spent for the purpose of hiring, training, equipping and employing up to three 
Armed Security Officers and any funds not expended to this purpose shall be 
returned to the General Fund. 

Agenda Item 7b



******************************************************* 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Town Council hereby authorizes and 
directs that the Chairperson of Town Council call for a Special Town Meeting to 
be held on [define date and time of said meeting] at the Town Hall Council 
Chambers to act upon the foregoing Resolution. 

[OPTIONAL LANGUAGE] BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Town 
Council hereby directs that the question of approval or disapproval of the 
foregoing resolution be put to qualified electors at a referendum held on [define 
date and time of said referendum]. 

Approved this 11th day of October, 2022. 

TOWN COUNCIL 

___________________________________ 
Mark Philhower, Chairperson 

ATTEST 

_________________________________ 
Kelly Bilodeau, Town Clerk 



PAUL K. SMITH RODNEY L. MOSIER II 
Superintendent of Schools Director of Special Education 

and Pupil Personnel Services 

MARY E. CLARK 1 COMMUNITY DRIVE, SUITE 1 KAREN HITCHCOCK ASETTA 
Director of Curriculum and Instruction EAST HAMPTON, CONNECTICUT 06424 School Business Manager 

860-365-4000

Questions from the Town Council concerning the funding of Armed Security Officers in the Schools 

1. What have other Towns in the area decided to do?  Have they considered Armed Security Officers
and accepted or rejected the idea?  Have they considered it all (as far as we can tell)?

RHAM – Currently has an SRO for the Middle/High School – considering additional security 
Portland – Currently has an SRO for the Middle/High School 
Marlborough – Considering an SRO or Armed Security 
Colchester – Considering Armed Security 
Lebanon – Considering Armed Security 

From CT INSIDER – August 22, 2022 

“‘What if it happens here?’: Why small Connecticut towns are embracing armed security in schools”  
https://www.ctinsider.com/news/article/What-if-it-happens-here-Why-small-17384766.php 

EAST HAMPTON — When the Board of Education this week approved adding armed security officers to some of its 
schools, it mirrored similar efforts to bolster security made by school officials in recent months. 

Since the fatal mass shooting at a Uvalde, Texas, elementary school in May, schools across the state have scrambled 
to tighten security and prevent similar tragedy from tearing apart their communities. One of the most popular — and 
controversial — strategies has been implementing armed security. 

A pattern has emerged amid the school safety resurgence: Many that have recently approved or are considering 
armed security mostly operate in sleepy, quaint towns that, until now, haven’t introduced firearms into their facilities. 

This trend has arisen as many small schools rush to enact policies that some larger urban schools have been 
incorporating for several years. School officials say the general reason for their haste is an intense desire to protect 
their communities from another lethal shooting. 

Area towns, similar measures 

This summer, at least seven other school districts besides East Hampton have approved adding armed security guards: 
Montville, Stamford, Killingly, New Milford, Regional School District 15 (Middlebury-Southbury), RSD 16 (Prospect-
Beacon Falls), and RSD 18 (Lyme-Old Lyme). All but one of those districts consist of towns whose total population is 
below 25,000 residents, according to the most recent census data. 

Both Marlborough and Brookfield public schools are publicly weighing the issue of armed security. In Marlborough, a 
safety and security team is considering the addition of a school resource officer along with other measures, 
Superintendent Dr. Holly Hageman has said. 

SROs are law enforcement officers who work at the local police department, while armed security officers, or ASOs, 
are typically retired police officers or state troopers. 

The Marlborough schools security team will make recommendations to the Marlborough Board of Education at its 
August or September meeting, Hageman said. 

https://www.ctinsider.com/news/article/What-if-it-happens-here-Why-small-17384766.php
https://www.ctinsider.com/news/article/More-and-more-Connecticut-towns-are-beefing-up-17354634.php


The Brookfield Board of Selectmen recently backed plans to put police officers in elementary schools and hire armed 
officers. That proposal will now head to a town vote. 

According to census data, those two towns both had populations below 18,000. 

‘Protecting the children’ 

East Hampton has employed an armed security officer at its high school since 2019. But its recent decision to 
implement armed security at two elementary schools and a middle school was a “direct response” to the Uvalde 
shooting, Superintendent Paul K. Smith has said. 

“What impacted our town to really consider (armed security) was the Robb Elementary School shooting,” Smith said 
this week. 

“I think because it was an elementary school, similar to Sandy Hook (Elementary School), it was like, ‘Oh my God, our 
elementary kids are targets.’ It’s not just a one-off at Sandy Hook, now it happened at Robb Elementary,” he added. 

In addition to armed security, the schools are also adding mental health counselors and establishing a school-based 
mental health center to better serve students, Smith said. 

“We like to feel that we’re a safe little town, but incidents like this make you realize that no town is safe,” he said. 

In June, the Board of Education for RSD 18, Lyme-Old Lyme, approved adding armed security officers to all district 
campuses for the upcoming school year. 

RSD 18 Board of Education Chairman Steven Wilson said that decision was “simply about having some way of 
protecting the children.” The board also considered how having an armed officer on school property would reduce 
the amount of time it took to engage a shooter versus how police normally respond during an incident. 

“The argument was made that it can take up to 20 minutes to get to the school site,” Wilson said. “It’s a small town 
but we don’t have a lot of police officers on our force.” 

Schools in Middletown and Cromwell, the two largest municipalities in Middlesex County, have employed school 
resource officers for several years, officials said. 

The area’s third largest municipality, Portland, has an unarmed security guard stationed at one of its schools, 
Superintendent Dr. Charles Britton said. 

“One of the reasons why we’ve not felt the same level of compulsion (for armed security) potentially in Portland is 
because … we have an unbelievably close relationship with the police department,” Britton said. “They are at our 
schools everyday.” 

Portland school officials have discussed the possibility of hiring a school resource officer, Britton said, but determined 
that “we don’t know if that’s necessary, only because we’re very fortunate that response times and police presence 
is something we don’t have an issue with.” 

Small towns most affected 

The school shooting in Uvalde — a community of about 16,000, according to census data — revived a debate about 
why smaller communities are repeatedly afflicted by these types of mass casualty incidents. 

Of the 10 deadliest school shootings in U.S. history, seven have occurred in towns with less than 45,000 residents, 
census data shows. 

There could be multiple explanations for why mass school shootings seem to occur more frequently in smaller towns, 
and unfortunately, research on the subject is limited, one mental health expert said. 

One reason could be that there is a disproportionate amount of urban school districts compared to rural school 
districts in the country, making it more likely that a mass shooting would occur in a small-town school, Sandra M. 
Chafouleas, an educational psychology professor at the University of Connecticut, wrote in an email. 

However, a critical piece in preventing school violence is ensuring that “every student is connected socially, and has 
the right emotional and behavioral supports to feel safe and secure,” Chafouleas said. 

https://www.newstimes.com/news/article/Adding-security-including-armed-officers-at-17370601.php
https://www.middletownpress.com/news/article/Ending-the-threat-East-Hampton-approves-17376485.php
https://www.middletownpress.com/news/article/Ending-the-threat-East-Hampton-approves-17376485.php


A 2002 study unpacking the question behind fatal school shootings in rural communities found that urban 
communities may have fewer resources for coping with violence because those types of incidents occur more 
frequently in that setting compared to rural communities. 

“Youth violence has been a problem in urban communities for many years, which has likely resulted in greater funding 
for programming, the implementation of violence intervention programs and tighter security in many urban schools,” 
the study concludes. 

‘What if it happens here?’ 

East Hampton resident Daniel Finn said that he constantly worries about the safety of his children while they are in 
school, partially due to the cycle of fatal school shootings in rural communities. 

“I have this constant fear when I send my kids off to school (that) — what if it happens here?” Finn said. “It consistently 
happens in small towns, so what if it happens here?” 

2. Please provide the information on the survey the District did on the matter.  What were the
questions? How was the survey distributed?  Who/how many responded?

This summer all families and teachers/staff in Grades K-8 were surveyed via email and given the 
opportunity to voice an opinion regarding the addition of an Armed Security Officer (ASO) in each school:  
Memorial, Center, and the Middle School.  The survey contained one question, “Do you support the 
addition of armed security in your child’s school?”  The survey was only sent to families in Grades K-8 and 
staff in Grades K-8 as the High School already has armed security.  

In addition to the email survey, the East Hampton Board of Education held two special meetings on 
Monday, July 25 and Monday, August 15, to discuss the addition of Armed Security Officers in Memorial, 
Center, and the Middle School.  Public Comment was encouraged at the meeting and emailed comments 
were shared with the Board.  The livestream of the second meeting (8/15) is available at 
https://www.youtube.com/c/EHPSNews/videos. 

73.30%

26.70%

Armed Security - Staff Survey

YES NO

86   

Respondents

81.10%

18.90%

Armed Security - Parent Survey

YES NO

657 

Respondents

https://corescholar.libraries.wright.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1002&context=sopp&httpsredir=1&referer=
https://www.youtube.com/c/EHPSNews/videos


3. What are the capital improvements being considered to enhance security?

See additional section – marked “CONFIDENTIAL” 

4. How are we addressing the concern of door access and alarming?  Is the District looking at any type
of monitoring and alarm system to identify outer doors that are open, ajar, or unlocked?  What else
is being done to ensure that doors are closed and locked when students are present?

All certified and non-certified staff were re-trained in safety expectations during sessions held on the first 
three professional development days (August 23-25) and on September 21.  The protocol for lockdowns 
and (given the situation at Robb Elementary in Uvalde, TX) expectations for exterior doors remaining closed 
and locked have been reviewed with all staff.   

During the school day, custodians check all exterior doors in addition to our Director of Operations.  Our 
expectation is that all doors are closed at all times except when children/staff are entering or exiting.  
Disciplinary action for any staff member who props a door is now the standard practice in each of the four 
schools.  Our staff expects a safe environment for our children and themselves.  As a result, there is strong 
compliance with ensuring that doors remain closed and locked.  

In terms of monitoring doors, the school is obtaining a quote for a system that would alert the Main Office 
of each school if a door is held open or propped open longer than a pre-determined set time.  Each school 
has multiple entrances: 

Memorial School 57 outside entrances 
Center School  17 
Middle School  38 
High School 35 

There are CONFIDENTIAL aspects of this project, which are included in the additional section – marked 
“CONFIDENTIAL.” 



1 

Recommended Modifications to the 
Business Incentive Program Ordinance 

Relevant to the Ordinance Version Adopted by the Town Council in 2013 and  
Amended in its Entirety in 2018 

The East Hampton Economic Development Commission has compiled several recommended 
modifications to the Business Incentive Program ordinance language and application. These 
modifications motivated by the goal to improve the application and evaluation process 
following application evaluations in 2019 and 2022, along with further review of the current 
ordinance and its related application. 

Together, these modifications will support an application submission and evaluation process 
that is more orderly and time-effective on the part of the applicant, economic development 
commission, the town council, and town hall staff. Additionally, it will help clarify undefined or 
vague wording. Further, it will encourage a regular general review of the program. 

Recommended Modifications Section and Reason(s) for Change 
Changes to the application wording – 
1.) Strengthen summary of application and 
evaluation process, 2.) Re-word or add 
questions to be more aligned with scoring 
criteria or eligibility for the program, 3.) Sign-
off section for the Town Manager and P&Z 
Zoning Official 

Section: Application 

• Encourage potential applicants to
consult town departments and
commissions to learn more about the
program

• Bring application into better alignment
with questions the commission will use
to determine number of points
awarded to an application based on the
ordinance

• Will support a smoother evaluation
process

Remove “high-technology businesses” phrase 
from “Use” category for scoring 

Section: Use Category 

• Removes vague, overly-broad, and
possibly outdated term

Agenda Item 9a



2 
 

Change wording to “up to” 5 points may be 
awarded for a qualifying business use. Instead 
of only 0 or 5 points options 

Section: Use Category 

• Greater flexibility in determining points 
awarded 

• Addresses a concern by the commission 

Add Definition for Phrase “Blighted” – The 
undefined term can be presently used to award 
the maximum number of points allowed under 
the “Use of Vacant Property” category. The 
suggested definition to be added is already on 
the East Hampton Town Code 

Section: Use of Vacant Property Category 
 

• Addresses undefined term tied to if 
points can be awarded 

• Creates a consistent format for the 
commission to determine if points 
given to an application 

Add Language Clarifying that Full-Time and 
Part-Time Jobs May Be Considered for 
Determining Number of Full-Time Equivalent 
Positions to be Created 

Section: Number of Jobs Created Category 
 

• Clarifies that part-time jobs the 
applicant’s business will hire for can 
count toward the number of points 
given under the scoring category 

• Helps address a concern raised during 
2019 KOCO Daycare application under 
the Business Incentive Program 

Implements Annual Written Updates by the 
Town Manager on Business Incentive Program 
Agreements the Town has In Effect: 1.) Recap 
of what tax abatement tiers were agreed to, 2.) 
How long present agreements are still under 
effect for, 3.) Share notable achievements or 
contributions to the town by the business 
entity, 4.) If any breach of the agreement, 
along with actions taken to resolve the issue or 
retrieve abated taxes in terminating an 
agreement 

Section: Tax Incentive Tiers and 
Implementation 
 

• An annual recap for commission 
members and the town council to be 
briefed on the business incentive 
program 

• Highlight benefits to town residents 
and local economy from businesses 
participating in the program 

• Opens opportunity for commission 
members less familiar with the 
program to become better informed 

 
 



Town of East Hampton, Connecticut 

Business Incentive Program Ordinance 

A. Purpose

The purpose of the Business Incentive Program is, in accord with the Town’s Plan of 

Conservation and Development (POCD), to attract new businesses to the Town, promote 

the expansion of existing businesses (including home-based businesses relocating into 

commercial, industrial, and design development zones), and to encourage the 

rehabilitation and reuse of vacant commercial and industrial buildings.  It is the intent of 

the Town:  

(1) to assist in the creation of jobs for local residents,

(2) to create long term tax base growth through the appropriate replacement,

reconstruction, expansion or remodeling of existing business facilities, 

(3) to encourage the construction of new commercial and industrial facilities in

accord with the Future Land Use Plan found in the Town’s POCD, and 

(4) to encourage substantial investment in new machinery, equipment and other

personal property subject to taxation within the Town. 

B. Business Incentive Program Ordinance; Authority

Subject to Connecticut General Statutes (CGS) Sec. 12-65b and Sec. 12-65h the Town of 

East Hampton (the Town) shall, by affirmative vote of its legislative body, enter into a 

written agreement with any party owning or proposing to acquire an interest in real 

property, or an interest in real property upon which is located or proposed to be located: 

Office use; retail use; manufacturing use; warehouse, storage or distribution 

use; structured multilevel parking use necessary in connection with a mass 

transit system; information technology; recreation facilities;  transportation 

facilities; or mixed-use developmentas defined in subdivision (72) of CGS Sec. 12-

81, fixing the assessment of the real property and all improvements to be constructed 

thereon which is the subject of the agreement in accordance with the provisions of 

Section I of this Ordinance.  

C. Economic Development Commission

The East Hampton Economic Development Commission (EDC or “the Commission”) 

shall provide any property owner or lessee with general information concerning the 

Business Incentive Program (the Program), prepare and supply interested parties with an 

Application to participate in the Program and any other information that may be 

reasonably requested by an interested party.  An “interested party” is one who owns or 

proposes to acquire an interest in real property as defined in CGS Sec. 12-65b and who is 

considering replacement, reconstruction, expansion, or remodeling of existing business 

facilities located or to be located in East Hampton.   

The EDC may perform research about any party applying to participate in the Program 

and may request of any such party any relevant information that in the opinion of the 



 

 

EDC bears upon consideration of the application.  The EDC shall obtain from the Tax 

Assessor an evaluation of the impact of any proposed abatement of taxes on the 

applicable Grand List and an estimate of the impact on future Grand Lists. 

 

D.  General Requirements 

 

Applications properly filed with the Town will be considered for the Program, provided: 

 

• Applicant must possess a good environmental practices history and be able 

to demonstrate adequate financial strength to finance the proposed capital 

improvements and expansions to the real property and machinery and 

equipment purchases that would be the subject of the agreement. 

• The proposed use is located in an appropriate zone as defined by East 

Hampton’s Zoning Regulations. 

• The proposed use receives approvals, licenses, and permits of the East 

Hampton Planning and Zoning Commission and of other East Hampton, 

State of Connecticut and federal agencies, boards, commissions, and 

officials having jurisdiction with respect to the project, as required. 

• No real estate property tax or other tax or fee or municipal charge due East 

Hampton by the Applicant, the businesses, or any other business 

organization or entity owned or controlled by the Applicant is unpaid at 

the time the Application is submitted or at any time thereafter.   

• If the Applicant is relocating its business to East Hampton, the applicant 

should provide a five year history of tax assessments and payments to the 

municipality or municipalities and/or other political subdivisions in which 

its business was operated. 

• The project must have a clear economic benefit to East Hampton, as 

described by the Applicant on the application. 

 

Notwithstanding the results of any scoring under Section H, if the project does not 

constitute a net benefit to the Town – economically, civically, or in quality of life – the 

Economic Development Commission may decline to refer the application to the Council 

for consideration.  

 

E.  Application Procedure 

 

All tax incentive requests shall be made in writing on a form referred to as Business 

Incentive Program Application (“the Application”) published and provided by the EDC 

and approved by the Town Council (“Council”).  The application and all accompanying 

documentation shall be submitted in duplicate at the Office of the Clerk Upon receipt by 

the Clerk, one copy of the Application and materials shall be provided to the EDC for 

preliminary review and the Clerk should provide notice to the Council that an 

Application has been submitted.  “Receipt by the Clerk” means an Application (including 

required signatures from listed public officials) and all accompanying documentation 

required in accordance with all applicable provisions of this Ordinance is submitted. 

 



 

 

The following timeframes for action are not mandatory, but the EDC and the Council 

should strive to meet them: From date of receipt by the Clerk of the Application the EDC 

shall have 45 days to review the Application, request additional information and meet 

with the Applicant and/or the Applicant’s representative. Provide the Applicant has 

submitted all of the information required in the Application, by the Ordinance, and by the 

EDC, the EDC will within 30 days thereafter report its findings to the Council.  The 

Council will place the report on the agenda of the next regularly scheduled Council 

meeting for discussion and action.  If the Council approves the report, the Town Manager 

and the Applicant shall enter into a written agreement (Consistent with the proposed 

agreement in section N ). 

 

F.  Assessment of the Property Subject to the Agreement 

 

The East Hampton Assessor shall, in the Assessor’s sole discretion, determine the 

assessment of the real property or the personal property and any and all improvements 

constructed or to be constructed on or in the real property which is the subject of the 

agreement. 

 

G.  Guidance for Scoring Applications and Implementing this Ordinance 

 

The purpose of this ordinance is to encourage economic growth in the Town that is in 

accord with the POCD in effect at the time of the given application.  The POCD reflects 

the strongest expression of the Town’s intentions for its future development, character, 

and quality of life.  Accordingly, there is room for flexibility in scoring under Criteria 

listed in Section H of this Ordinance.   

 

When scoring a new application, the members of the EDC should strive for consistency 

and transparency.  Like applications should receive like treatment.  It is appropriate – 

even essential – for the EDC to consult the scoring of previously granted applications 

when scoring a new application.  Consistency between like applications must be 

balanced, however, with the goals of the POCD in effect at the time.  Where no similar 

application has been submitted, care should be taken to score the new application relative 

to the goals of the POCD and relative to the merits of any previous application. 

 

Only the EDC shall approve or deny an application for consideration by the Council and 

its decision is not appealable. When approving or denying an application the EDC should 

issue a written statement showing the scoring and explaining its reasoning. Projects 

recommended to the Council must evince a clear net benefit to the Town.  It is 

recognized that evaluation of an application under this ordinance requires a blend of 

quantitative and qualitative reasoning; the Commission to strive to make that reasoning 

plain.   

 



 

 

H.  Scoring Criteria Category Definitions 

 

1.   Location: Only projects within those areas zoned “Commercial,” “Industrial,” or 

"Design Development" according to the Zoning Map for the Town of East 

Hampton (see POCD) are eligible for consideration under this Ordinance. Points 

under this section may be awarded for Properties located in the following priority 

areas: 

 

a.  Village Center: Properties located in the Village Center district as defined 

by the Zoning Map for the Town of East Hampton are eligible for a 

maximum of 10 points.  

b.  Cobalt Center: Properties located on Route 66 between its junction with 

 Old Depot Hill Road and its junction with Old Middletown Road are 

 eligible for a maximum of 7 points. 

 2. Corporation: any company, firm, business, or concern operating as a single 

legal entity. 

 

3.  TIF District:  As defined by the Town’s Tax Increment Financing (TIF) 

District Plan 

 

Maximum points: 10 

 

2. Use: In accord with the needs identified by the POCD and as appropriate to the 

site and location in town, the following uses may qualify for points: Transient 

housing (hotels/motels), rental housing, workforce housing, light industrial/light 

manufacturing, healthcare and medical services, high-technology businesses, 

retail, and dining.  Projects for these uses may be awarded up to 5 points.  At the 

EDC’s discretion, “high needs” uses under these categories may be awarded up to 

10 points. 

 

Maximum points: 10 

 

3.  Brownfields: East Hampton contains a number of sites designated as 

“Brownfields” by the USEPA.  Brownfields are real property, the expansion, 

redevelopment, or reuse of which may be complicated by the presence or 

potential presence of a hazardous substance, pollutant, or contaminant. Cleaning 

up and reinvesting in these properties protects the environment, reduces blight, 

and takes development pressures off green spaces and working lands – all of 

which are goals of East Hampton’s POCD. 

 

Any application that proposes to remediate and commit to reuse a Brownfield as 

designated by the EPA or the State of Connecticut is eligible for 10 points.   

 

Depending upon the project, financing and other factors, the Town may also seek 

to partner with the applicant for Federal grant funding or supply other in-kind 

considerations. 



 

 

 

Maximum points: 10 

 

5. Use of a Vacant Property:  The applicant may be awarded 5 points if proposing to 

 occupy a building which has been unoccupied for a period greater than 12 months 

 at the time the applicant signed a lease or closed on the property. If, in the opinion 

 of the EDC, the property can be considered “blighted,” 10 points may be awarded.  

 

10 points may be awarded if the property is considered “blighted” according to the 

definition provided in the Town of East Hampton’s Blight Ordinance (Chapter 171 of 

the Town Code): 

 

“Any building, structure, or parcel of land, except exempt property as defined below, in 

which at least one of the following conditions exists: 

 

A. It is dilapidated as documented by the Building Official 

B. It is a fire hazard as determined by the Fire Marshal or as documented by the Fire 

Department 

C. It is determined by the Building Official or the Health Department that the 

condition of the building, structure, or parcel of land poses a serious or immediate 

danger to the safety, health, or general welfare of the community 

D. It is not being maintained in accordance to the State of Connecticut Building 

Code (2005) 

E. It is a factor creating a substantial interference with the reasonable and lawful use 

and enjoyment of abutting premises or which blocks or interferes with the use of any 

public sidewalk and/or private street or right-of-way or any road sign.” 

 

Maximum points: 10 

 

6. Number of Jobs Created:  Points may be awarded based upon the number of non-

 seasonal Full Time Equivalent positions (FTEs) the business will generate: 

  

 1-5 FTEs: 5 points 

 5-10 FTEs: 7 points 

 More than 10 FTEs: 10 points 

 

Both full-time and part-time jobs may be considered in determining the number of 

FTEs created. 

  

 Maximum points:  10 

 

7. Cost of Services to the Town:  A project or use proposed by an applicant may 

require the Town to assume an extraordinary cost beyond normal maintenance 

and upkeep.  For example: a chemical manufacturer may require the Town to 



 

 

retrain and potentially re-equip its fire protection services. If the commission 

determines such is the case, no points may be awarded under this category.   

 

If no such cost exists, 5 points may be awarded.  

 

The Commission may ask the Applicant to pay for a Fiscal Impact Analysis, to be 

conducted by a consultant approved by the Commission. 

 

The Applicant may be given the opportunity to show that the Commission’s 

determination of the cost to the Town is in error, however, the Commission makes 

the final determination. 

 

 Maximum points: 5 

 

8. Design of the Building or Renovation: The Commission may award 10 points 

when applicant can show that the design of the structure is in compliance with 

current Town Building Design Guidelines for its zone. 

 

 

Maximum points: 10 

 

9. Sustainable Building: The Commission may award 2 points for each of the 

 following and up to 10 points total: 

 

• If the investment will result in the business generating at least 20% 

of its own energy requirements. 

• If the investment will result in the business feeding energy back 

into the grid. 

• If the project meets at minimum LEED Gold standard or 

equivalent. (As of this writing, LEED is the dominant evaluation 

system in the US market and the one favored for use by the GSA.) 

• If the project requires a public transportation node such as a bus 

stop. 

• If the project supplies a recharge station for electric vehicles. 

• Water-saving fixtures throughout. 

 

“Sustainability” characteristics and measures are constantly evolving and the 

Commission may update this list periodically as it sees fit.  

  

 Maximum points: 10 

 

10. Amount Invested 

 

15 points $3M or larger investment in construction or renovations 

14 points $1M or larger investment in construction or renovations 

13 points $800k or larger investment in construction or renovations 



 

 

12 points $500k or larger investment in construction or renovations 

11 points A business new to that parcel investing over $300k or a 

business existing on that parcel investing at least $250k in 

construction or renovations 

10 points A business new to that parcel investing over $200k or a 

business existing on that parcel investing at least $100,000 

in construction or renovations 

  

 Maximum points: 15 

 Total Available Points:  90 

 

 

I.   Tax Incentive Tiers and Implementation 

 

Depending upon the number of points an Application receives, it may be denied or, 

subject to a vote by the Council, provided with one of tiers of tax abatement as follows: 

 

 Fewer than 24 points: Denied 

 

25-44 points: Third tier benefit:  70% of fixed assessment abated for two 

years, or 50% of fixed assessment abated for four years. 

 

45-69 points: Second tier benefit:  70% of fixed assessment abated for 

three years, or 50% of fixed assessment abated for five 

years. 

 

More than 70 points: Highest benefit:  100% of fixed assessment abated for years 

1-3, 70% of fixed assessment abated for years 4-5, 50% of 

fixed assessment abated for year 6.  

 

The Town may abate real estate property taxes based on increased real property tax 

assessments up to but not more than the percentages shown above. 

 

The fixed assessment period shall commence the first fiscal year for which a tax list is 

prepared on the October 1immediately following the issuance of a Certificate of 

Occupancy by the appropriate building official for construction of the buildings or 

manufacturing facilities or other structures and all improvements in or on the real 

property which is the subject of the agreement.  Notwithstanding anything written in this 

Ordinance, the Town may, in its sole discretion, offer to enter into an agreement with the 

Applicant for the abatement of taxes of a lesser percentage and/or fewer years. 

 

On a case by case basis, the Town may provide other incentives in addition to the 

incentives provided by CGS Sec. 12-65b and Sec. 12-65h or in lieu thereof as follows: 

(1) waiver of building permit fees; (2) waiver of filing fees with land use agencies; or, (3) 

provision of in-kind services such as construction of access roads, or road widening, 



 

 

construction of storm drains and culverts, sidewalks, or curbing, extension of water 

and/or sewer lines or other public improvements. 

 

Machinery and equipment defined in subdivision (72) of CGS Sec. 12-81 and intended to 

qualify for tax relief pursuant to Sec. 12-65h shall have for federal income tax purposes a 

depreciable useful life of five or seven years. 

 

Construction shall commence within six months of, and not prior to, approval by the 

Town and shall be completed no later than 24 months from the date of approval by the 

Town.  The times for commencement and completion of the construction are mandatory 

except Applicant’s performance may be excused when the Applicant is prevented from 

performing by causes beyond the Applicant’s control, including natural disasters or other 

calamities or a local, state or national declared state of emergency. 

 

The Town Manager shall provide annual written updates in January to the Council and 

the EDC on entities the Town has agreements with under the Business Incentive Program 

that are presently in effect or ended within the last year. The annual updates should 

include, but need not be limited to: 

 

1. A recap of the number of years and percentage of fixed assessment abated that the 

Town and entity are under agreement for 

2. When the fixed assessment abated started and when the tax abatement will, or did, 

cease under the agreement for the entity 

3. Any additional incentives provided by the Town to an entity as listed under 

Section I (§278-40) 

4. Any notable achievements, recognitions or contributions that constitute a net 

benefit to the Town – economically, civically, or in quality of life 

5. If any benchmarks or requirements established by the agreement or under Section 

D (§278-35), Section I (§278-40), and Section J (§278-41) have failed to be met. 

If yes, the annual update will include what benchmarks or requirements were 

failed to be met. Also, what subsequent actions were taken by the Town regarding 

an applicant defaulting on the agreement or requirements of the ordinance 

 

 

J. Default by the Owner or Lessee Under the Terms of the Agreement; 

 Recapture 

 

Abatement of taxes under this ordinance constitutes a municipal subsidy to the successful 

applicant. In the event that the Applicant fails to meet negotiated benchmarks or other 

requirements as described herein, they shall, by the terms of the Agreement, be required 

to repay all abated amounts, consistent with CGS 12-146as of the date of default. 

 

In addition to the specific timing benchmarks noted in Section I, the Town is encouraged 

to establish relevant benchmarks to be met by a successful Applicant related to the nature 

of the business or the project.  At a minimum they must include the following triggers. 



 

 

  

In the event the owner or lessee of the real property: 

 

1. At any time fails pay real estate and/or personal property taxes when due 

 and payable; 

2. Fails to commence or complete on time the construction of all 

 improvements upon the property which is the subject of the agreement; 

3. Within 10 years of the date of the Agreement applicant becomes insolvent 

or  bankrupt or files any debtor proceedings or others file such debtor 

 proceedings against the owner or lessee, in any court, in any jurisdiction, 

 state or federal, and does not withdraw such filing within 90 days or such 

 other proceedings have not been dismissed or withdrawn by such other 

 parties within 90 days or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors 

 or if the property or lease is taken under and writ of execution or becomes 

 the subject of foreclosure proceedings; 

4. Abandons at any time the real property or in the case of the lessee purports 

 to assign its lease without the express consent of the Town as set forth in 

 Section K of this Ordinance; or, 

5. Fails to perform any obligation of owner or lessee or attain any benchmark 

 set under the terms of the agreement 

 

such event shall constitute a material default of the agreement and the Town may 

terminate the agreement on the giving of written notice whereupon (a) the right of the 

owner and/or lessee under the terms of the agreement shall cease and come to an end; and 

(b) the property owner and/or lessee shall be obligated to repay the Town the amounts of 

all tax abatements retroactive to the due date of the first abated tax payment plus interest 

at the rate set and payable pursuant to provisions of CGS Sec. 12-146, all waived fees, if 

any, and all actual costs to the Town in providing in-kind considerations to the property 

owner and/or the lessee.  

 

In the event of failure to pay a tax when due and if such delinquency continues for six 

months and one day, the Town shall terminate the agreement whereupon (i) the right of 

the owner and/or lessee to receive the tax abatement and any other considerations granted 

under the terms of the agreement shall by terminated; and (ii) the property owner and/or 

lessee shall be obligated to repay the Town the amounts of all tax abatements retroactive 

to the due date of the first abated tax payment plus interest at the rate set and payable 

pursuant to provisions of CGS Sec. 12-146, all waived fees, if any, and all actual costs to 

the Town in providing in-kind considerations to the property owner and/or the lessee. 

 

K. Workout Terms 

 

It is of no benefit to East Hampton to drive an Applicant in default into further economic 

straits by virtue of an onerous repayment plan.  Terms for the recapture of abated taxes as 

described in Section J should be calculated to ensure the recapture of the highest possible 

percentage of public funds, taking into account the fiscal reality of the Applicant, the 

circumstances of the default, and the state of the project.  



 

 

 

 

L. Assignment of the Agreement 

 

The agreement between the town and the Applicant shall not be assigned by the 

Applicant to any person(s) or business organization or entity or estate or trust without the 

express consent of both the Council and the EDC which shall signify their consents by an 

affirmative vote taken at a separate meeting of each body duly noticed for the stated 

purpose.  A conveyance of real property or a transfer of ownership of the business or 

substantially all of the assets of the business which is the subject of the agreement to a 

person or business organization or entity that is not owned or controlled by the Applicant, 

shall not constitute a valid assignment of the agreement or vest any rights under the 

agreement in the grantee of the real property or transferee of the business or of the assets 

of the business or allow for enforcement of any obligations of the Town against the Town 

by the grantee or transferee including but not limited to any remaining tax abatements 

under the terms of the agreement.  A “controlled entity” means a business which is eighty 

or more percent owned by the grantor or transferor. 

 

M. Amendments to Applicable Statutes 

 

All references in this Ordinance to CGS Sec. 12-65b or Sec. 12-65h or Sec. 12-81 or any 

other section of CGS made herein shall include all amendments to such statutes enacted 

and signed into law subsequent to the effective date of this ordinance. 

 

N. Proposed Agreement 

 

FORM OF AGREEMENT 

 

TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON 

AGREEMENT REGARDING REAL 

PROPERTY TAX ASSESSMENT 

______________________________ 

EAST HAMPTON, CONNECTICUT 

 

 

 This Agreement is entered into this ___ day of _______________ by and between 

the TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON, a municipal corporation and body politic having its 

corporate limits located within the County of Middlesex and State of Connecticut 

(hereinafter the “Town”), and _______________________________ of East Hampton, 

Connecticut (“Company”) a Connecticut corporation with a principal place of business at 

____________________________, East Hampton, Connecticut. 

WITNESSETH: 

 WHEREAS, Company is responsible to pay all real property taxes associated with 

the real property known as ___________________________________ East Hampton, 

Connecticut (“the Real Property”); and 



 

 

 WHEREAS, Company intends to make improvements to the land and structures 

on the Real Property, including the construction of approximately ___________square 

foot commercial office building and associated site improvements located on the Real 

Property (the “Facility”); and 

 WHEREAS, the estimated costs to be invested by Company in making the above-

described improvements to and constructing the Facility on the Real Property will be a 

minimum of $___________________; and 

 WHEREAS, the Town, acting by and through its duly authorized Tax Assessor, 

will assess and value the Real Property and personal property on the Grand List of 

October 1, 2018. 

 WHEREAS, the Town wishes to assist Company in its plans to add real property 

and personal property value to the Town’s tax base; and  

 WHEREAS, the Town wishes to assist Company to develop its 

____________________ plans to be submitted and approved to the Planning and Zoning 

Commission; and 

 WHEREAS, in consideration of the above, the Town is willing to provide tax 

relief to Company pursuant to the East Hampton Business Incentive Program Ordinance 

as a Tier ____ tax abatement for a period of ___________  years commencing with the 

first date that tax payments are due under the Grand List following the date of issuance of 

the Certificate of Occupancy for the Facility (the “Abatement Term”); and 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the parties hereby 

covenant and agree that: 

1. Cost of Improvements:  The costs for the improvements shall equal or exceed 

$_______________________ in construction costs.  Company will install and properly 

account to the Town for all taxable personal property assets added to or installed in the 

Facility. 

2. Certificate of Occupancy:  Company will commence construction within six (6) 

months, and not prior, to this Agreement and complete construction and obtain a 

Certificate of Occupancy not later than twenty-four (24) months from the date of this 

Agreement. Company shall actively operate or cause said Facility to operate as 

__________________at the Real Property for not less than the Abatement Term from the 

date of the Certificate of Occupancy. 

3. Employment:  Company shall use its best efforts to employ or cause to be 

employed at least ___ full-time and ____ part-time employees at said Facility throughout 

the Abatement Term. 

4. Reduction of Assessment:  Commencing with the issuance of a Certificate of 

Occupancy, the Real Property tax assessment shall be established on the Grand List for 

the period following the issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy, and the Town shall 

grant to Company a ___% reduction in its Real Property assessment such that the net 

effect of the reduced assessment reduces the tax liability for the Real Property in the 

amount of $______________ over the ___________ year period according to a schedule 

attached hereto as Exhibit A, including the above-described Improvements and the 

construction of the Facility (the “Abatement”). 

5. Abatement Period:  The Abatement Term shall be for a period of ___________ 

years commencing with the first date that tax payments are due under the Grand List 

following the date of issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy for the Facility; provided, 



 

 

however, that if such assessment is changed by any future Town revaluation, the tax 

payments due under the new assessed value of the Real Property shall be adjusted for the 

remainder of the Abatement Term in accordance with the terms of the Abatement set 

forth in Paragraph 4 above. 

6. Tax Payment:  Company shall maintain all tax obligations owed by it to the Town 

current and in good standing during the Abatement Term. 

7. Certification of Value of Site Improvements:  Company shall be required to 

provide proof via affidavit of an appropriate officer within one year after the 

commencement of operations at the Facility as to a) the actual value of the site 

improvements and that said improvements are substantially in conformance with the 

provisions hereof as to the scope of construction; b) the cost of construction (a minimum 

of $________.00) and c) the number and type (full-time or part-time) of employees 

employed at such Facility. 

8. Ongoing Employment Obligations:  Notwithstanding anything herein contained to 

the contrary, Company and the Town acknowledge and agree that, while Company shall 

make every good faith effort to maintain and employ at least ____ full-time and ____ 

part-time employees during the Operating Term, economic circumstances, financial 

considerations, and employee transience may make it impossible to maintain precisely 

the level of employment described herein.  Accordingly, Company and the Town 

acknowledge that variations in the numbers of employees will occur and may continue 

for unspecified periods of time during the Operating Term of this Agreement.  Company 

will, upon request, disclose to Town its employment statistics no more than once per 

year.  Subject to the above requirement of good faith and Company’s cooperation in 

disclosing all efforts made to comply with the employment parameters stated herein, such 

variations shall not otherwise constitute a default of this Agreement provided the Facility 

is operating in accordance with applicable law and Company is in compliance with the 

terms of this Agreement in all other respects. 

9. Default:  The following events shall constitute and event of default: Company at 

any time fails pay real estate and/or personal property taxes when due and payable, or; 

Company fails to commence or complete on time the construction of all improvements 

upon the property which is the subject of the agreement, or; Company, within 10 years of 

the date of the Agreement, becomes insolvent or bankrupt or files any debtor proceedings 

or others file such debtor proceedings against the owner or lessee in any court, in any 

jurisdiction, state or federal, and does not withdraw such filing within 90 days, or such 

other proceedings have not been dismissed or withdrawn by such other parties within 90 

days, or; Company makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or; Company 

property or lease is taken under a writ of execution or becomes the subject of foreclosure 

proceedings, or;  Company abandons at any time the real property or in the case of the 

lessee purports to assign its lease without the express consent of the Town as set forth in 

this Ordinance, or; Company fails to perform any obligation of owner or lessee or attain 

any benchmark set under the terms of this Agreement.  In such event of default, the Town 

shall provide notice to the Company of such event of default, and the Company shall 

have thirty (30) days from such notice within which to cure such default.  In the event 

Company fails to cure the default with thirty (30) days of such notice, then this 

Agreement shall be null and void and the Company shall reimburse the Town for all tax 

relief provided to Company, retroactive to the due date of the first abated tax payment 



 

 

plus interest at the rate set and payable pursuant to the provisions of Conn. Gen. Stat. 

§12-146, or other applicable statute, plus all prior waived fees, if any, plus all actual costs 

to the Town in providing in-kind considerations to the Company, and the Town shall be 

under no obligation to grant further tax relief hereunder. 

10. Legal Action to Enforce the Terms:  In the event that the Town must resort to 

legal action to enforce the terms of this Agreement, any amount determined by a Court of 

competent jurisdiction to be due from Company shall be subject to interest at the rate of 

eighteen percent (18%) per annum.  Such interest shall accrue from the postmark date for 

the notice of default described in Paragraph 9.  In addition, the Town shall be entitled to 

recover from Company all costs of collection, including reasonable attorney’s fees, 

incurred in enforcing this Agreement. 

11. No Further Abatement:  Company acknowledges and agrees that the Abatement 

offered pursuant to this Agreement is not binding upon the Town, and shall not continue, 

beyond the ________ year Abatement Term agreed to herein. 

12. No Admission as to Values:  Company and the Town acknowledge and agree that 

the values placed upon the Real Property, the Facility, and/or the Improvements as a 

result of the Abatement shall not now or at any other time be construed as an admission 

by any party or as evidence of any kind as to the true fair market value of the Real 

Property, the Facility, and/or the Improvements. 

13. Notices:  All notices hereunder are to be sent by the Town to Company at the 

following address or to such other address as requested by the Company or its successors 

or assigns:  ________________________________________, East Hampton, CT 06424 

Attention:________________.  All such notices shall be sent via certified mail, return 

receipt requested, or overnight mail service.  Notices are deemed effective upon delivery.  

Any refusal to accept such delivery shall still constitute the delivery of proper notice. 

14. Assignment:  Company may not assign or otherwise transfer its rights or 

obligations under this Agreement without the prior written authorization of the Town 

Council and Economic Development Commission which shall signify their consents by 

an affirmative vote taken at a separate meeting of each body duly noticed for the stated 

purpose.  A conveyance of the Real Property or a transfer of ownership of the Company 

business or substantially all of the assets of the Company to a person or business 

organization or entity that is not a “controlled entity” which is owned or controlled by the 

Company, shall not constitute a valid assignment of the Agreement or vest any rights 

under the Agreement in the grantee of the Real Property or transferee of the Company or 

the assets of the Company or allow for enforcement of any obligations of the Town 

against the Town by the grantee or transferee including but not limited to any remaining 

tax abatements under the terms of the Agreement.  A “controlled entity” means a 

business which is eighty or more percent owned by the Company as grantor or transferor. 

15. Release of Liability:  Company and/or its successors or assigns releases the Town 

and its agents, servants and employees from any and all liability, of whatever nature, 

legal or equitable, which may have arisen or which may arise in connection with this 

Agreement, including the implementation hereof. 

16. Indemnification:  Company and/or its successors or assigns shall defend and 

indemnify the Town and any of its agents, servants and employees against any action, 

claim or suit of any nature whatsoever, arising from the Town’s being a party to this 

Agreement and/or any undertaking of its obligations hereunder. 



 

 

17. Execution:  This Agreement has been executed by the parties’ respective agents, 

duly authorized and acting in his or her official capacity. 

18. Amendment:  This Agreement may be amended only by mutual consent of the 

parties, and any amendments to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be duly 

executed and dated by the respective parties. 

19. Complete Agreement:  This Agreement represents the entire and complete 

understanding and agreement of the parties, and any and all prior written or oral 

agreements not otherwise contained in this Agreement shall be and are hereby null and 

void and of no force or effect. 

20. Choice of Law and Venue:  In the event that litigation or other dispute resolution 

process arises, all litigation and dispute resolution shall take place in the State of 

Connecticut, Judicial District of Middlesex, and the Agreement shall be construed in 

accordance with Connecticut law, without regard to its conflict of law provisions. 

21. Notice of Tax Abatement:  Upon the execution of this Agreement, a copy of this 

Agreement or a proper “Notice of Tax Abatement Agreement” shall be filed upon the 

land records of the Town with respect to the Real Property. 

22. Special Conditions:  In addition to all other terms and conditions of this 

Agreement, the Town’s obligations under this Agreement are conditioned on the 

following (“the Conditions”): 

  (a)  Project Financing:  Company demonstrates to the reasonable 

satisfaction of the East Hampton Finance Director that it has private financing and state 

and federal grants in place in an amount sufficient to undertake and complete the project; 

  (b)  Property Maintenance:  Company demonstrates that it has 

maintenance contracts in place to keep the property maintained during the period of 

construction; 

  (c)  Non-Transferable:  As set forth in Paragraph 14 herein, Company 

acknowledges and affirms that this tax abatement is non-transferable and any transfer of 

the tax abatement to a non-related entity shall be an event of default; and 

  (d) ________ [other specific terms] 

 In the event that the Company fails to satisfy the Conditions set forth in this 

Special Conditions paragraph, this Agreement shall be null and void and the Real 

Property as improved shall be assessed in accordance with the Connecticut General 

Statutes without regard to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

 

 

 

REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONAL LEFT BLANK 

SIGNATURES FOLLOW 

  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have hereunto set their hands and seals as 

of the day and year first written above. 

 

Witnessed By:   COMPANY:  

    

 

 



___________________________________ 

By:   

Its CEO, Duly Authorized 

___________________________________ 

Witnessed By: TOWN:  

___________________________________ 

By: __________________________ 

Its Town Manager, Duly Authorized 

___________________________________ 

Original Ordinance Adopted: October 8, 2013 

Published in Rivereast News Bulletin:  October 11, 2013 

Effective:  October 31, 2013. 

Revision Adopted by Town Council:  September 25, 2018 

Published in Rivereast News Bulletin:  September 28, 2018 

Effective:  October 18, 2018 



1 Community Drive, East Hampton, CT  06424  |  860.267.4468 tel   |  860.267.1027 fax  |  www.easthamptonct.gov 

Business Tax Incentive Application 

Thank you for considering East Hampton as a place to start your business. East Hampton is a 
community of approx. 13,000 residents living in approximately 36.7 square miles. Our community 
offers numerous natural attractions including the largest natural lake in the state, the Salmon 
River, the Connecticut River, the airline trail and numerous state forests. East Hampton is a great 
place to work and live. 

East Hampton is working on promoting smart business growth within our community. As a result, 
in 2013 the Town Council unanimously passed the Business Incentive Ordinance Chapter 278 
Article IX into law. This piece of legislation provides a scoring rubric for new businesses and 
depending on the score received the business can receive a deferral on their assessment in an 
effort to ease a new businesses’ tax burden.  

Process: 

1. Complete an application: To file an application for a Business Tax Incentive the owner of
the business must fill out an application. Applications can be retrieved from the Town
Manager’s office or online at  www.easthamptonct.gov. Interested individuals should
review the incentive program ordinance and consult with the Land Use Department,
Town Manager’s Office, and/or Economic Development Commission to understand the
requirements, eligibility to apply, and evaluation criteria of the program.

2. Application Submission: Once the application is complete it must be turned into the Town
Clerk’s office in duplicate so that it is officially recorded. The Clerk will pass along a copy
of the application to the Economic Development Commission and notify the Town Council
within 10 days of the submission.

3. EDC Review: The Economic Development Commission will review your application with
45 days of receipt and make a report of findings to the Town council within another 30
days. During this review they will also score your application using the scoring criteria.
You may be asked to attend a commission meeting, and/or written communication, to
provide additional information.

4. Town Council review: If the Town Council reviews the EDC report and approves it then
the applicant and Town Manger will enter into a written agreement that will document
the terms and conditions of the tax abatement.

5. Agreement approval: The final agreement between Town Manager and Applicant must
be approved by the Town Council.

http://www.easthamptonct.gov/


   

 

1 Community Drive, East Hampton, CT  06424  |  860.267.4468 tel   |  860.267.1027 fax  |  www.easthamptonct.gov 

 

                                             

 

                                          Business Incentive Program Application 

 

Name: __________________________    Name of Business: _____________________________ 

Phone: ____________________________    Email: _____________________________________ 

Location for Business: _______________________________ 

Is the location a Brownfield as designated by the East Hampton Brownfields Agency:  Yes/ No 

Is the location currently a vacant building: Yes/ No   How long has it been vacant: ____________ 

How many FTEs will the business employ: ________   How many FTEs will be created: ________ 

Please provide in an attachment a narrative about this business, the services it will provide, the 
people it will employ and the benefits to East Hampton. 

What additional services may be required by the Town: 

______________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________ 

What is the estimated or projected start date for construction: __________________________ 

Do you plan to use sustainable building practices, including practices outlined in the ordinance: 
Yes/ No 

If Yes please describe: 
______________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________ 

What is the estimated dollar amount you plan to invest in the build out and development of this 
business: ______________________________________________________________________ 

Applicant can attach any supplemental materials outlining how the estimated dollar amount 
investment is planned for. 



   

 

1 Community Drive, East Hampton, CT  06424  |  860.267.4468 tel   |  860.267.1027 fax  |  www.easthamptonct.gov 

Does the proposed use have the required approvals, licenses, and permits:  Yes/No 

Is the proposed use located in an appropriate zone as defined by East Hampton's Zoning 
Regulations:  Yes/No  What type of zone is it located in: ___________________________ 

Are there any unpaid taxes, fees, or municipal charges owed to East Hampton by the 
applicant, the businesses, or any other business organization or entity owned or controlled by 
the applicant: Yes/No  
 
If Yes please describe: 
______________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

The Town Manager and Planning and Zoning Official attest that the applicant fulfills the 
requirements and conditions for eligibility to be considered for participation in the Business 
Incentive Program by East Hampton’s Town Council and Economic Development Commission. 

 

X _________________________________________          Date ____________________________ 

East Hampton Town Manager 

 

X _________________________________________          Date ____________________________ 

East Hampton Planning and Zoning Official 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



1 

Guidance to Support Review and Evaluation of 
Applications Under the Business Incentive Program 

The Following Document is Based-On the Business Incentive Program Ordinance Adopted 
by the Town Council in 2013 and Amended in its Entirety in 2018  

Crafted by the East Hampton Economic Development Commission  in 2022 

Introduction 

Aim of the Tax Abatement Program – Page 2 
Goal of the Advice and Suggested Practices for the Economic Development Commission – Page 2 

A Fair and Inquisitive Approach to Fulfilling a Rigorous Responsibility – Page 2 

Evaluation, Review, and Report to the Town Council 

Process of Evaluation – Page 3 
Report to the Town Council – Page 5 

Scoring Categories 

Location – Page 6 
Use – Page 6 

Brownfields – Page 7 
Use of Vacant Property – Page 7 
Number of Jobs Created – Page 8 

Cost of Services to the Town – Page 8 
Design of the Building or Renovation – Page 9 

Sustainable Building – Page 9 
Amount Invested – Page 10 

Default by Owner(s) and Recapture of Abated Taxes 

Ability of Town to Retrieve Abated Taxes – Page 10 



2 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

Aim of the Tax Abatement Program 
 

In brief, the Town of East Hampton’s Business Incentive Program is focused on attracting new 
businesses to East Hampton, supporting the growth of existing businesses, and promoting the 
renovation and redevelopment of vacant commercial and industrial buildings. The intended benefits 
sought by the Town of East Hampton are defined in summary as: 
 

1. Assisting in the creation of jobs for local residents 
2. Promoting long-term tax base growth through the appropriate replacement, reconstruction, 

expansion or remodeling of existing business facilities 
3. Supporting construction of new commercial and industrial facilities in accordance with town 

growth plans 
4. Encouraging substantial investment in new machinery, equipment and other personal property 

that is taxed by the town 
 

Goal of the Advice and Suggested Practices for the Economic Development Commission 
 

The East Hampton Economic Development Commissions contributes to the Town of East Hampton’s 
Business Incentive Program in a primarily research and evaluation manner. It evaluates an application 
on a set scoring rubric and submits a report about its findings to the Town Council. 
 
While no material can anticipate every possibility or question, the goal of this document is to provide an 
outline of suggested practices, context, and advice that could be use by members of the Economic 
Development Commission when evaluating a business incentive program application. This document is 
not a substitute for the business incentive program ordinance and the suggestions in this document are 
not-required, but are to help address questions that may arise, support an organized evaluation process, 
and better understand the ordinance language. 
 
We encourage commission members to continually update and re-format this document so that 
acquired knowledge and lessons may be passed on for future use. 
 

A Fair and Inquisitive Approach to Fulfilling a Rigorous Responsibility 
 

• Commission members should be proactive in asking questions and seeking clarification 

• The responsibility is with the representatives of the application to prove claims made in the 
application and during the evaluation process 

• Take a neutral attitude in evaluating an application that weighs the taxpayer, business, and 
town interests 

• The commission should look to prior applications for reference and support in determinations 
 
 
 
 
 



3 
 

EVALUATION, REVIEW, AND REPORT TO THE TOWN COUNCIL 

 

Process of Evaluation 
 

The commission is given a 45-day period starting from the date of receipt by the Town Clerk of the 
application “to review the application, request additional information and meet with the applicant 
and/or the applicant's representative,” according to the ordinance. As the ordinance states, the time 
period is not mandatory for the commission, but they should work to meet it. 
 

Suggested Steps to Implement from Start of Evaluation 
 
From the start, it is recommended that the following steps be taken to support transparency and strong 
pursuit of information for an application: 
 

• Communication with a representative(s) of an application should be through the Town Manager 
or designated town hall staff/official(s) 

• Extend an invite for the application’s representative(s) to meet with the commission in a public 
meeting to discuss the merits and address questions related to the application 

o A copy of the ordinance should be given to the representative(s) with the invitation 
o Provide a deadline for accepting the invitation and requesting any additional 

information in writing/typed from the applicant 

• The commission should request the following, if not already afforded by the Town Manager’s 
Office, to be provided to all commission members in advance of first meeting to evaluate an 
application: 

 

1. The submitted application 2. A copy of the ordinance 

3. The most recent business incentive program 
application, relevant commission meeting 
minutes, and Town Council report 

4. Confirmation of attendance by the Town 
Manager to be at commission meetings where 
application is discussed  

5.**Ordinance Directs Commission to “obtain from the Tax Assessor an evaluation of the 
impact of any proposed abatement of taxes on the applicable Grand List and an estimate of the 
impact on future Grand Lists.” 

 
Are basic eligibility requirements met to allow for evaluation of the application: The commission 
should inquire with the Town Manager, Planning and Zoning Official, and town official(s) responsible for 
accountability on taxes if there are any issues as to whether the application meets the basic 
requirements to be considered for the incentive program including but not limited to: 
 

• The proposed use under the application is in an appropriate zone 

• The proposed use of the property has received the approvals, permits, etc. from the town 
Planning & Zoning Commission, and other appropriate agencies, boards, or officials on the town, 
state, or federal level 

• No unpaid taxes or fees by the applicant, business(es) or entity controlled by the applicant 

• The applicant has not started construction before approval of their application 
 
 



4 
 

During the Evaluation Process 
 
The ordinance does not lay out a specific step-by-step process for evaluating an application. With that 
said, it is heavily suggested that any meeting with a representative(s) of an application to determine a 
score for an application should take place in a public meeting. 
 
The ordinance says that the commission has 45 days starting from the date of receipt by the Clerk – East 
Hampton Town Clerk – of the application to review, request additional information, and meet with a 
representative(s) of the application. But, the ordinance makes clear the time frame is not mandatory. 
 
The following is an outline for a suggested “two-meeting evaluation track.” The commission is able to 
have more or less meetings, along with information requests, as it believes to be appropriate and in a 
timely manner. 
 
Evaluation Meeting #1: 
 

Open to the Public: Held as part of a regular or 
special meeting of the commission 

Expert Figures Available: The Town Manager, 
representative(s) of the application, and other 
appropriate individuals should be invited to 
answer questions or provide additional 
information 

Organized Discussion: The commission should go 
category by category to discuss the application’s 
eligibility for points and factors that would merit 
it 

Seek Clarification: Commission members should 
ask early on and throughout the meeting 
questions to attending town staff if there is 
uncertainly in how to interpret the ordinance 

Informal Commission Scoring: Commission members can make note of a potential score for a category 
if there is no disagreement or consensus is reached. Also, the commission should make note what 
additional information is needed to determine a final total score. Any information requests should be 
replied to in writing/typed to the commission members in advance of the second evaluation meeting. 

 
Evaluation Meeting #2 
 
In between the first and second meeting, the commission is recommended to: 
 

• Have any further communication with representative(s) of the application be through the Town 
Manager or a designated town hall staff/official(s) 

• If seeking additional information from an application representative(s), the commission should  
through designated point of contact a message restating the request(s) with a deadline to reply 

 
The following should be the action items or qualities of the second evaluation meeting: 
 

Open to the Public: Held as part of a regular or 
special meeting of the commission 

Expert Figures Available: The Town Manager, 
representative(s) of the application, and other 
appropriate individuals should be invited to 
answer questions or give guidance on process of 
evaluation 



5 
 

Review Additional Information: Commission 
members should review information provided to 
answer remaining questions from first meeting 

Drafting Town Council Report: The chairperson of 
the commission or a designated commission 
member who supported the application scoring 
will be assigned to write the town council report 

Official Scoring and Approval: Category by category, the commission should review its findings and 
tentative “informal scoring” determinations to begin officially deciding on points awarded for each 
category. After, the commission should have final discussion on the individual categories and a total 
score before taking a vote to approve – Majority of members present needed to approve 

 

Report to the Town Council 
 
The commission will create a “written statement” providing its scoring of an application, while 
explaining the factors and reasoning for the score approved by the commission. The following items or 
formatting are suggestions for an application report to the Town Council: 
 

• A read out of the total score and scoring by category (consult recent town council reports on 
prior applications) 

• The commission vote tally for finalizing the scoring that approved or denied the application for 
consideration by the Town Council 

• Dates of when the application was received, commission meetings where the merits of the 
application was reviewed and evaluated, any sit-down discussions with a representative(s) of 
the application 

• A few bullet points describing important factors, metrics, or information that determined points 
awarded for different categories 

• Brief read out of materials and subject matter experts (ex. East Hampton officials and staff) who 
were consulted in evaluating the application 

• Any concerns raised or discovered during review of the application that question if the applying 
party meets basic eligibility requirements under the ordinance should be described in the report 
and asked of the Town Council if that makes the application no longer permissible 

 
The report should be in an attached document of an email to the Town Manager for submission to the 
members of the Town Council. While not mandatory, the commission should strive to submit its report 
within 30 days after the 45-day period allowing the commission to evaluate the application. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



6 
 

SCORING CATEGORIES 
 

Location Category 
 
Defining Terminology 
TIF District – Means “Tax Increment Financing District” established by the Town of East Hampton to 
encompass the historic downtown Village Center 
 
Suggested Practices: 
 

• The commission should ask the East Hampton Planning and Zoning and the Town Manager to 
provide written opinions if the business is located on a property that meets the ordinance’s 
definition of the Village Center, Cobalt Center, or TIF district 

• Points may be awarded for locations outside of the Village Center, Cobalt, or TIF district. The 
following factors could be possibly used for reasoning to award points. 

 

1. Proximity to existing business centers (ex. 
Village Center) 

2. Location along major traffic routes in East 
Hampton 

3. Locations with existing infrastructure including but not limited to public sewer, public water, 
natural gas, and fiber optics 

 

• Commission members are encouraged to look at past application scorings to help determine 
how points are awarded 

 

Use Category 
 
Defining Terminology: 
 
NAICS – Stands for “North American Industrial Classification System,” which according to the United 
States Census Bureau is “standard used by Federal statistical agencies in classifying business 
establishments for the purpose of collecting, analyzing, and publishing statistical data related to the U.S. 
business economy.” More information can be found at www.census.gov/naics/.  
 
Understanding the Ordinance: 
 

• Applications that comprise of a use(s) that is listed in the ordinance language may be awarded 5 
points. Under current wording, the ordinance language implies that only 5 points may be 
awarded for a qualifying use 

• Up to 10 points may be awarded if the commission determines that a qualify use(s) – as listed in 
the ordinance language – is considered “high needs” 

• The term “higher needs” is not currently defined in the ordinance and its utilization is left to the 
discretion of the commission 

 
Suggested Practices: 
 

http://www.census.gov/naics/


7 
 

• Should consider what would be the primary and possible secondary products, services, or 
benefits that are received by a customer 

• The commission is given the flexibility to use a variety of factors as it views appropriate for 
determining use. Potential factors can include but are not limited to: 

 

1. Description of the business on the submitted 
application 

2. Membership in or presented awards from 
industry-specific business associations 

3. NAICS category that business falls, or will fall 
under, for purposes of taxes 

4. Does the zoning designation of the property in 
question allow for that qualifying use that is 
claimed 

5. Consult the Town Manager or town’s Planning & Zoning Official for an opinion 

 

• The lack of a “high-needs” definition warrants its possible utilization to be restricted to when 
the commission finds overwhelming reasoning supported by evidence that is then explained in 
the town council report 

 

Brownfields Category 
 
Suggested Practices: 
 

• Inquire with the East Hampton Planning and Zoning Official if the property that is part of the 
evaluation is considered a brownfield by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) or the 
State of Connecticut. Either meeting of such criteria is what allows for points to be awarded 
under the category to the application 

 

Use of Vacant Property Category 
 
Understanding the Ordinance: 
 

• Final determination if the property is to be considered “blighted” for the purposes of awarding 
points is the responsibility of the commission 

 
Suggested Practices: 
 

• The commission could seek a written statement from the East Hampton Planning and Zoning 
Official if the property meets the definition of a vacant property as provided in the ordinance 
language or if it would be considered “blighted” in their opinion 

• If an application claims the property qualifies as a vacant property or to be “blighted,” the 
commission should request materials from the representative(s) of the application to support 
such claims 

 
Town definition for “blighted” for potential reference in scoring by the commission: The Town of East 
Hampton has the following in its Blight Ordinance (Chapter 171 of the Town Code) as of 2022. The 
commission could use the definition on the next page, or a more current definition, to determine if an 
application project is to be considered “blighted” 
 
 



8 
 

From Chapter 171 of the Town Code: 
 
“Any building, structure, or parcel of land, except exempt property as defined below, in which at least 
one of the following conditions exists: 

A. It is dilapidated as documented by the Building Official 
B. It is a fire hazard as determined by the Fire Marshal or as documented by the Fire 

Department 
C. It is determined by the Building Official or the Health Department that the condition of the 

building, structure, or parcel of land poses a serious or immediate danger to the safety, 
health, or general welfare of the community 

D. It is not being maintained in accordance to the State of Connecticut Building Code (2005) 
E. E. It is a factor creating a substantial interference with the reasonable and lawful use and 

enjoyment of abutting premises or which blocks or interferes with the use of any public 
sidewalk and/or private street or right-of-way or any road sign.” 

 

Number of Jobs Created Category 
 
Defining Terminology 
 
FTE – Means “nonseasonal full-time equivalent positions” as defined in the ordinance 
 
Understanding the Ordinance: 
 

• The number of FTEs the business will create is how the number of points awarded will be 
determined based on a set system listed in the ordinance 

• The current wording of the application asks how many FTEs will the business “employ,” BUT the 
question to answer for purposes of scoring is how many FTEs will be created 

 
Suggested Practices: 
 

• As part of determining a number of FTEs created, the commission can consider jobs that are 
relocated to East Hampton as new jobs 

• Regarding nonseasonal part-time jobs, the commission can determine what number of part-
time jobs would be equal to an FTE 

 

Cost of Services to the Town Category 
 
Understanding the Ordinance: 
 

• Points may only be awarded if there is NO “extraordinary cost beyond normal maintenance and 
upkeep” 

• A representative of the application can be allowed to present to the commission why a potential 
cost to the town is incorrect, but final decision rests with the commission on if such a cost would 
be assumed by the Town 

• The commission is allowed to ask the applicant pay for a fiscal impact analysis to be conducted 
by a consultant approved by the commission as part of determining an extraordinary cost 

 



9 
 

Suggested Practices: 
 

• The commission could inquire with the Town Manager if the project under the application or its 
proposed use by the applying party “may require the Town to assume an extraordinary cost 
beyond normal maintenance and upkeep” 

o If yes, a written explanation should be sought from the Town Manager, with any 
relevant town government staffer/official, describing what the potential service costs 
may be 

• The commission should confer with the Town Manager on the selection of a qualified 
consultant. Also, it is recommended to get an estimated timeframe for completion and scope of 
the fiscal impact analysis from a potential consultant 

 

Design of the Building or Renovation Category 
 
Understanding the Ordinance: 
 

• The ordinance deems that the responsibility to prove a structure is in compliance rests with the 
applicant 

 
Suggested Practices: 
 

• Inquire with the Town Manager if the structure – the building to be remodeled, renovated, 
expanded, construction, etc. – is in compliance with current Town Building Design Guidelines for 
its zone (ex. Commercial) 

• The commission could request from representative(s) of an application for materials supporting 
a statement of compliance if it is in question by the commission and/or town manager 

 

Sustainable Building Category 
 
Defining Terminology: 
 
LEED – Stands for “Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design,” which is the most widely used 
green building rating system in the world according to the U.S. Green Building Council. It gives a 
framework for recognizing highly efficient and cost-saving green buildings. A project receives a LEED 
certification status – highest to lowest rank: platinum, gold, silver, and certified – by going through a 
verification and review process. More information can be found at www.usgbc.org/leed.  
 
Suggested Practices 
 

• In meeting with representative(s) of the application, the commission should run through the list 
of eligible sustainable building methods that allow for awarding of points 

• If listed on the application or during discussions with representative(s) of the application, it is 
recommended that the commission ask in advance the applicant provide materials supporting 
their claims of qualifying sustainable building practices. The commission could make this inquiry 
in advance of meeting with the applicant 

• Commission members could seek further opinion or assistance in clarifying information from the 
town’s Planning & Zoning Official 

http://www.usgbc.org/leed


10 

• On the “Water-saving fixtures throughout” bullet – To commission can ask the applicant to
provide as statement from the building architect responding to the following questions

o “What amenities or fixtures are part of the building(s) that will reduce water-usage?”
o “Where are these amenities or fixtures located in the building(s)?”
o “By what amount and/or percentage will be saved on water-usage?”

Amount Invested Category 

Suggested Practices: 

• The commission should look to the application for the estimated amount to be invested into the
building out and developing of the business. The Town Manager could be consulted early on if
any reason to doubt the amount figure provided.

• If any reasons for doubt or interest for fuller details, the commission could:
o Request from representative(s) of the application an outline of how the estimated

amount will be allocated
o Work with the Town Manager on questions to be posed to the applicant to validate the

estimated amount or determine a more appropriate estimate

DEFAULT BY OWNER(S) AND RECAPTURE OF ABATED TAXES 

Ability of Town to Retrieve Abated Taxes 

The ordinance lays out a general process to allow the Town of East Hampton to retrieve abated taxes 
from an approved applicant if it’s in breach of the agreement under the Business Incentive Program. In 
addition, it provides minimum conditions that would enact efforts to retrieve abated taxes. These 
conditions can include but not limited to: 

• Failure to pay taxes when due including real estate and personal property taxes

• Fails to commence or complete on time the construction of all improvements upon the property
which is the subject of the agreement

Fuller conditions that can result in a default of the agreement are listed under §278-41 and §278-44 
(Proposed Agreement). 

An applicant found to be in breach of the agreement is given a time-frame to cure the issue. Failure to 
cure the default would lead to the agreement becoming null and void. The applicant is required to 
reimburse the Town for all tax relief it received retroactive to the due date of the first abated tax 
payment. Additionally, the applicant would need to pay interest at the rate set for tax abatement. Also, 
it would need to repay any waived fees and actual costs to the Town. 

The ordinance is clear that it’s not to East Hampton’s benefit to drive an applicant in default into further 
economic straits to retrieve abated taxes. In such case, it would calculate what the highest possible 
retrieval of taxpayer dollars would be considering the financial circumstances of the applicant, the 
circumstances of the default, and the state of the project 



Agenda Item 9b





































































































































































Agenda Item 12




